Capacitance

Contents

1	Capacitance 1				
	1.1	Capacitors	1		
		1.1.1 Voltage-dependent capacitors	2		
		1.1.2 Frequency-dependent capacitors	2		
	1.2	Capacitance matrix	3		
	1.3	Self-capacitance	4		
	1.4	Stray capacitance	4		
	1.5	Capacitance of simple systems	4		
	1.6	Capacitance of nanoscale systems	4		
		1.6.1 Single-electron devices	5		
		1.6.2 Few-electron devices	5		
	1.7	See also	6		
	1.8	References	6		
	1.9	Further reading	7		
2	Diel	ectric	8		
	2.1	Terminology	8		
	2.2	Electric susceptibility	8		
		2.2.1 Dispersion and causality	9		
	2.3	Dielectric polarization	9		
		2.3.1 Basic atomic model	9		
		2.3.2 Dipolar polarization	10		
		2.3.3 Ionic polarization	10		
	2.4	Dielectric dispersion	10		
	2.5	Dielectric relaxation	10		
		2.5.1 Debye relaxation	11		
		2.5.2 Variants of the Debye equation	11		
	2.6	Paraelectricity	11		
	2.7 Tunability		11		
	2.8	Applications	12		
		2.8.1 Capacitors	12		
		2.8.2 Dielectric resonator	12		
	2.9	Some practical dielectrics	12		

	2.10	10 See also					
	2.11	2.11 References					
	2.12	Further reading	14				
	2.13	External links	14				
3		ttivity	15				
	3.1	lanation 15 uum permittivity 15					
	3.2		15				
	3.3	Relative permittivity	16				
	3.4	Dispersion and causality	16				
		3.4.1 Complex permittivity	16				
		3.4.2 Tensorial permittivity	18				
		3.4.3 Classification of materials	18				
		3.4.4 Lossy medium	18				
		3.4.5 Quantum-mechanical interpretation	18				
	3.5	Measurement	19				
	3.6	See also	19				
	3.7	References	19				
	3.8	Further reading	20				
	3.9	External links	20				
4		ic susceptibility					
	4.1	Definition of volume susceptibility					
	4.2	Molecular polarizability					
	4.3	Nonlinear susceptibility					
	4.4	Dispersion and causality					
	4.5	See also	22				
	4.6	References	22				
5	Polarization density						
-	5.1	Definition	-				
	5.2	Other Expressions	23				
	5.3	Gauss's Law for the Field of P					
		5.3.1 Differential Form					
	5.4	Relationship between the fields of P and E					
	011	5.4.1 Homogeneous, Isotropic Dielectrics					
		5.4.2 Anisotropic Dielectrics					
	5.5	Polarization density in Maxwell's equations					
	5.5	5.5.1 Relations between E, D and P					
		5.5.1 Relations between E, D and F					
	56						
	5.6	Polarization ambiguity					
	5.7	See also					

5.8	Refere	nces and notes	26
5.9	Text ar	nd image sources, contributors, and licenses	27
	5.9.1	Text	27
	5.9.2	Images	28
	5.9.3	Content license	28

Chapter 1

Capacitance

Capacitance is the ability of a body to store an electrical charge. Any object that can be electrically charged exhibits capacitance. A common form of energy storage device is a parallel-plate capacitor. In a parallel plate capacitor, capacitance is directly proportional to the surface area of the conductor plates and inversely proportional to the separation distance between the plates. If the charges on the plates are +q and -q respectively, and V gives the voltage between the plates, then the capacitance C is given by

$$C = \frac{q}{V}.$$

which gives the voltage/current relationship

$$I(t) = C \frac{\mathrm{d}V(t)}{\mathrm{d}t}.$$

The capacitance is a function only of the geometry of the design (area of the plates and the distance between them) and the permittivity of the dielectric material between the plates of the capacitor. For many dielectric materials, the permittivity and thus the capacitance, is independent of the potential difference between the conductors and the total charge on them.

The SI unit of capacitance is the farad (symbol: F), named after the English physicist Michael Faraday. A 1 farad capacitor, when charged with 1 coulomb of electrical charge, has a potential difference of 1 volt between its plates.^[1] Historically, a farad was regarded as an inconveniently large unit, both electrically and physically. Its subdivisions were invariably used, namely the microfarad, nanofarad and picofarad. More recently, technology has advanced such that capacitors of 1 farad and greater (so-called 'supercapacitors') can be constructed in a structure little larger than a coin battery. Such capacitors are principally used for energy storage replacing more traditional batteries.

The energy (measured in joules) stored in a capacitor is equal to the *work* required to push the charges into the capacitor, i.e. to charge it. Consider a capacitor of capacitance *C*, holding a charge +q on one plate and -q on the other. Moving a small element of charge dq from one

plate to the other against the potential difference V = q/C requires the work dW:

$$\mathrm{d}W = \frac{q}{C} \,\mathrm{d}q$$

where W is the work measured in joules, q is the charge measured in coulombs and C is the capacitance, measured in farads.

The energy stored in a capacitor is found by integrating this equation. Starting with an uncharged capacitance (q = 0) and moving charge from one plate to the other until the plates have charge +Q and -Q requires the work W:

$$W_{\text{charging}} = \int_0^Q \frac{q}{C} \, \mathrm{d}q = \frac{1}{2} \frac{Q^2}{C} = \frac{1}{2} QV = \frac{1}{2} CV^2 = W_{\text{stored}}$$

1.1 Capacitors

Main article: Capacitor

The capacitance of the majority of capacitors used in electronic circuits is generally several orders of magnitude smaller than the farad. The most common subunits of capacitance in use today are the microfarad (μ F), nanofarad (nF), picofarad (pF), and, in microcircuits, femtofarad (fF). However, specially made supercapacitors can be much larger (as much as hundreds of farads), and parasitic capacitive elements can be less than a femtofarad.

Capacitance can be calculated if the geometry of the conductors and the dielectric properties of the insulator between the conductors are known. A qualitative explanation for this can be given as follows.

Once a positive charge is put unto a conductor, this charge creates an electrical field, repelling any other positive charge to be moved onto the conductor. I.e. increasing the necessary voltage. But if nearby there is another conductor with a negative charge on it, the electrical field of the positive conductor repelling the second positive charge is weakened (the second positive charge also feels the attracting force of the negative charge). So due to the second conductor with a negative charge, it becomes easier to put a positive charge on the already positive charged first conductor, and vice versa. I.e. the necessary voltage is lowered.

As a quantitative example consider the capacitance of a capacitor constructed of two parallel plates both of area *A* separated by a distance *d*:

$$C = \varepsilon_r \varepsilon_0 \frac{A}{d}$$

where

C is the capacitance, in Farads;

A is the area of overlap of the two plates, in square meters;

 ε_r is the relative static permittivity (sometimes called the dielectric constant) of the material between the plates (for a vacuum, $\varepsilon_r = 1$);

 ε_0 is the electric constant ($\varepsilon_0 \approx 8.854 \times 10^{-12}$ F·m⁻¹); and

d is the separation between the plates, in meters;

Capacitance is proportional to the area of overlap and inversely proportional to the separation between conducting sheets. The closer the sheets are to each other, the greater the capacitance. The equation is a good approximation if d is small compared to the other dimensions of the plates so that the electric field in the capacitor area is uniform, and the so-called *fringing field* around the periphery provides only a small contribution to the capacitance. In CGS units the equation has the form:^[2]

$$C = \varepsilon_r \frac{A}{4\pi d}$$

where *C* in this case has the units of length. Combining the SI equation for capacitance with the above equation for the energy stored in a capacitance, for a flat-plate capacitor the energy stored is:

$$W_{\rm stored} = \frac{1}{2}CV^2 = \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_r\varepsilon_0\frac{A}{d}V^2$$

where W is the energy, in joules; C is the capacitance, in farads; and V is the voltage, in volts.

1.1.1 Voltage-dependent capacitors

The dielectric constant for a number of very useful dielectrics changes as a function of the applied electrical field, for example ferroelectric materials, so the capacitance for these devices is more complex. For example, in charging such a capacitor the differential increase in voltage with charge is governed by:

$dQ = C(V) \, dV$

where the voltage dependence of capacitance, C(V), suggests that the capacitance is a function of the electric field strength, which in a large area parallel plate device is given by $\varepsilon = V/d$. This field polarizes the dielectric, which polarization, in the case of a ferroelectric, is a nonlinear *S*-shaped function of the electric field, which, in the case of a large area parallel plate device, translates into a capacitance that is a nonlinear function of the voltage.^{[3][4]}

Corresponding to the voltage-dependent capacitance, to charge the capacitor to voltage V an integral relation is found:

$$Q = \int_0^V C(V) \, dV$$

which agrees with Q = CV only when C is not voltage independent.

By the same token, the energy stored in the capacitor now is given by

$$dW = Q \, dV = \left[\int_0^V \, dV' \, C(V') \right] \, dV \, .$$

Integrating:

$$W = \int_0^V dV \int_0^V dV' C(V') = \int_0^V dV' \int_{V'}^V dV C(V') = \int_0^V dV'$$

where interchange of the order of integration is used.

The nonlinear capacitance of a microscope probe scanned along a ferroelectric surface is used to study the domain structure of ferroelectric materials.^[5]

Another example of voltage dependent capacitance occurs in semiconductor devices such as semiconductor diodes, where the voltage dependence stems not from a change in dielectric constant but in a voltage dependence of the spacing between the charges on the two sides of the capacitor.^[6] This effect is intentionally exploited in diode-like devices known as varicaps.

1.1.2 Frequency-dependent capacitors

If a capacitor is driven with a time-varying voltage that changes rapidly enough, at some frequency the polarization of the dielectric cannot follow the voltage. As an example of the origin of this mechanism, the internal microscopic dipoles contributing to the dielectric constant cannot move instantly, and so as frequency of an applied alternating voltage increases, the dipole response is limited and the dielectric constant diminishes. A changing dielectric constant with frequency is referred to as dielectric dispersion, and is governed by dielectric relaxation processes, such as Debye relaxation. Under transient conditions, the displacement field can be expressed as (see electric susceptibility):

$$\boldsymbol{D}(\boldsymbol{t}) = \varepsilon_0 \int_{-\infty}^t \varepsilon_r(t-t') \boldsymbol{E}(t') dt',$$

indicating the lag in response by the time dependence of εr , calculated in principle from an underlying microscopic analysis, for example, of the dipole behavior in the dielectric. See, for example, linear response function.^{[7][8]} The integral extends over the entire past history up to the present time. A Fourier transform in time then results in:

$$\boldsymbol{D}(\omega) = \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_r(\omega) \boldsymbol{E}(\omega)$$

where $\varepsilon_r(\omega)$ is now a complex function, with an imaginary part related to absorption of energy from the field by the medium. See permittivity. The capacitance, being proportional to the dielectric constant, also exhibits this frequency behavior. Fourier transforming Gauss's law with this form for displacement field:

$$\begin{split} I(\omega) &= j\omega Q(\omega) = j\omega \oint_{\Sigma} \boldsymbol{D}(\boldsymbol{r}, \ \omega) \cdot d\boldsymbol{\Sigma} \\ &= \left[G(\omega) + j\omega C(\omega) \right] V(\omega) = \frac{V(\omega)}{Z(\omega)} \ , \end{split}$$

where *j* is the imaginary unit, $V(\omega)$ is the voltage component at angular frequency ω , $G(\omega)$ is the *real* part of the current, called the *conductance*, and $C(\omega)$ determines the *imaginary* part of the current and is the *capacitance*. $Z(\omega)$ is the complex impedance.

When a parallel-plate capacitor is filled with a dielectric, the measurement of dielectric properties of the medium is based upon the relation:

$$\varepsilon_r(\omega) = \varepsilon'_r(\omega) - j\varepsilon''_r(\omega) = \frac{1}{j\omega Z(\omega)C_0} = \frac{C_{\text{cmplx}}(\omega)}{C_0}$$

where a single *prime* denotes the real part and a double *prime* the imaginary part, $Z(\omega)$ is the complex impedance with the dielectric present, $C_{cmplx}(\omega)$ is the so-called *complex* capacitance with the dielectric present, and C_0 is the capacitance without the dielectric.^{[9][10]} (Measurement "without the dielectric" in principle means measurement in free space, an unattainable goal inasmuch as even the quantum vacuum is predicted to exhibit nonideal behavior, such as dichroism. For practical purposes, when measurement errors are taken into account, often a measurement in terrestrial vacuum, or simply a calculation of C_0 , is sufficiently accurate.^[11])

Using this measurement method, the dielectric constant may exhibit a resonance at certain frequencies corresponding to characteristic response frequencies (excitation energies) of contributors to the dielectric constant. These resonances are the basis for a number of experimental techniques for detecting defects. The *conductance method* measures absorption as a function of frequency.^[12] Alternatively, the time response of the capacitance can be used directly, as in *deep-level transient spectroscopy*.^[13]

Another example of frequency dependent capacitance occurs with MOS capacitors, where the slow generation of minority carriers means that at high frequencies the capacitance measures only the majority carrier response, while at low frequencies both types of carrier respond.^{[14][15]}

At optical frequencies, in semiconductors the dielectric constant exhibits structure related to the band structure of the solid. Sophisticated modulation spectroscopy measurement methods based upon modulating the crystal structure by pressure or by other stresses and observing the related changes in absorption or reflection of light have advanced our knowledge of these materials.^[16]

1.2 Capacitance matrix

The discussion above is limited to the case of two conducting plates, although of arbitrary size and shape. The definition C=Q/V still holds for a single plate given a charge, in which case the field lines produced by that charge terminate as if the plate were at the center of an oppositely charged sphere at infinity.

C = Q/V does not apply when there are more than two charged plates, or when the net charge on the two plates is non-zero. To handle this case, Maxwell introduced his *coefficients of potential*. If three plates are given charges Q_1, Q_2, Q_3 , then the voltage of plate 1 is given by

$$V_1 = P_{11}Q_1 + P_{12}Q_2 + P_{13}Q_3,$$

and similarly for the other voltages. Hermann von Helmholtz and Sir William Thomson showed that the coefficients of potential are symmetric, so that $P_{12} = P_{21}$, etc. Thus the system can be described by a collection of coefficients known as the *elastance matrix* or *reciprocal capacitance matrix*, which is defined as:

$$P_{ij} = \frac{\partial V_i}{\partial Q_j}$$

From this, the mutual capacitance C_m between two objects can be defined^[17] by solving for the total charge Q and using $C_m = Q/V$.

$$C_m = \frac{1}{(P_{11} + P_{22}) - (P_{12} + P_{21})}$$

Since no actual device holds perfectly equal and opposite charges on each of the two "plates", it is the mutual capacitance that is reported on capacitors.

The collection of coefficients $C_{ij} = \frac{\partial Q_i}{\partial V_j}$ is known as the *capacitance matrix*,^{[18][19]} and is the inverse of the elastance matrix.

1.3 Self-capacitance

In electrical circuits, the term *capacitance* is usually a shorthand for the *mutual capacitance* between two adjacent conductors, such as the two plates of a capacitor. However, for an isolated conductor there also exists a property called *self-capacitance*, which is the amount of electric charge that must be added to an isolated conductor to raise its electric potential by one unit (i.e. one volt, in most measurement systems).^[20] The reference point for this potential is a theoretical hollow conducting sphere, of infinite radius, centered on the conductor. Using this method, the self-capacitance of a conducting sphere of radius *R* is given by:^[21]

 $C = 4\pi\varepsilon_0 R$

Example values of self-capacitance are:

- for the top "plate" of a van de Graaff generator, typically a sphere 20 cm in radius: 22.24 pF
- the planet Earth: about 710 μ F^[22]

The inter-winding capacitance of a coil, which changes its impedance at high frequencies and gives rise to parallel resonance, is variously called self-capacitance,^[23] stray capacitance, or parasitic capacitance.

1.4 Stray capacitance

Main article: Parasitic capacitance

Any two adjacent conductors can function as a capacitor, though the capacitance is small unless the conductors are close together for long distances or over a large area. This (often unwanted) capacitance is called parasitic or "stray capacitance". Stray capacitance can allow signals to leak between otherwise isolated circuits (an effect called crosstalk), and it can be a limiting factor for proper functioning of circuits at high frequency. Stray capacitance between the input and output in amplifier circuits can be troublesome because it can form a path for feedback, which can cause instability and parasitic oscillation in the amplifier. It is often convenient for analytical purposes to replace this capacitance with a combination of one input-to-ground capacitance and one output-to-ground capacitance; the original configuration - including the input-to-output capacitance - is often referred to as a pi-configuration. Miller's theorem can be used to effect this replacement: it states that, if the gain ratio of two nodes is 1/K, then an impedance of Z connecting the two nodes can be replaced with a Z/(1-k) impedance between the first node and ground and a KZ/(K - 1) impedance between the second node and ground. Since impedance varies inversely with capacitance, the internode capacitance, C, is replaced by a capacitance of KC from input to ground and a capacitance of (K - 1)C/K from output to ground. When the input-to-output gain is very large, the equivalent inputto-ground impedance is very small while the output-toground impedance is essentially equal to the original (input-to-output) impedance.

1.5 Capacitance of simple systems

Calculating the capacitance of a system amounts to solving the Laplace equation $\nabla^2 \varphi = 0$ with a constant potential φ on the surface of the conductors. This is trivial in cases with high symmetry. There is no solution in terms of elementary functions in more complicated cases.

For quasi-two-dimensional situations analytic functions may be used to map different geometries to each other. See also Schwarz–Christoffel mapping.

1.6 Capacitance of nanoscale systems

The capacitance of nanoscale dielectric capacitors such as quantum dots may differ from conventional formulations of larger capacitors. In particular, the electrostatic potential difference experienced by electrons in conventional capacitors is spatially well-defined and fixed by the shape and size of metallic electrodes in addition to the statistically large number of electrons present in conventional capacitors. In nanoscale capacitors, however, the electrostatic potentials experienced by electrons are determined by the number and locations of all electrons that contribute to the electronic properties of the device. In such devices, the number of electrons may be very small, however, the resulting spatial distribution of equipotential surfaces within the device are exceedingly complex.

1.6.1 Single-electron devices

The capacitance of a connected, or "closed", singleelectron device is twice the capacitance of an unconnected, or "open", single-electron device.^[32] This fact may be traced more fundamentally to the energy stored in the single-electron device whose "direct polarization" interaction energy may be equally divided into the interaction of the electron with the polarized charge on the device itself due to the presence of the electron and the amount of potential energy required to form the polarized charge on the device (the interaction of charges in the device's dielectric material with the potential due to the electron).^[33]

1.6.2 Few-electron devices

The derivation of a "quantum capacitance" of a fewelectron device involves the thermodynamic chemical potential of an N-particle system given by

$$\mu(N) = U(N) - U(N-1)$$

whose energy terms may be obtained as solutions of the Schrödinger equation. The definition of capacitance,

$$\frac{1}{C} \equiv \frac{\Delta V}{\Delta Q}$$

with the potential difference

$$\Delta V = \frac{\Delta \mu}{e} = \frac{\mu(N + \Delta N) - \mu(N)}{e}$$

may be applied to the device with the addition or removal of individual electrons,

$$\Delta N = 1$$
 and $\Delta Q = e$.

Then

$$C_Q(N) = \frac{e^2}{\mu(N+1) - \mu(N)} = \frac{e^2}{E(N)}$$

is the "quantum capacitance" of the device.^[34]

This expression of "quantum capacitance" may be written as

$$C_Q(N) = \frac{e^2}{U(N)}$$

which differs from the conventional expression described in the introduction where $W_{\text{stored}} = U$, the stored electrostatic potential energy,

$$C = \frac{Q^2}{2U}$$

by a factor of 1/2 with Q = Ne.

However, within the framework of purely classical electrostatic interactions, the appearance of the factor of 1/2 is the result of integration in the conventional formulation,

$$W_{\rm charging} = U = \int_0^Q \frac{q}{C} \, {\rm d} q$$

which is appropriate since dq = 0 for systems involving either many electrons or metallic electrodes, but in few-electron systems, dq $\rightarrow \Delta Q = e$. The integral generally becomes a summation. One may trivially combine the expressions of capacitance and electrostatic interaction energy,

$$Q = CV$$
 and $U = QV$

respectively, to obtain,

$$C = Q\frac{1}{V} = Q\frac{Q}{U} = \frac{Q^2}{U}$$

which is similar to the quantum capacitance. A more rigorous derivation is reported in the literature.^[35] In particular, to circumvent the mathematical challenges of the spatially complex equipotential surfaces within the device, an *average* electrostatic potential experiences by *each* electron is utilized in the derivation.

The reason for apparent mathematical differences is understood more fundamentally as the potential energy, U(N), of an isolated device (self-capacitance) is twice that stored in a "connected" device in the lower limit N=1. As N grows large, $U(N) \rightarrow U$.^[33] Thus, the general expression of capacitance is

$$C(N) = \frac{(Ne)^2}{U(N)}$$

In nanoscale devices such as quantum dots, the "capacitor" is often an isolated, or partially isolated, component within the device. The primary differences between nanoscale capacitors and macroscopic (conventional) capacitors are the number of excess electrons (charge carriers, or electrons, that contribute to the device's electronic behavior) and the shape and size of metallic electrodes. In nanoscale devices, nanowires consisting of metal atoms typically do not exhibit the same conductive properties as their macroscopic, or bulk material, counterparts.

1.7 See also

- · Ampère's law
- Capacitor
- Capacitive Displacement Sensors
- Conductance
- Conductor
- Displacement current
- Electromagnetism
- Electricity
- Electronics
- · Gauss law
- Hydraulic analogy
- Inductor
- Inductance
- Orders of magnitude (capacitance)
- Quantum capacitance
- LCR meter

1.8 References

- http://www.collinsdictionary.com/dictionary/english/ farad
- [2] The Physics Problem Solver, 1986, Google books link
- [3] Carlos Paz de Araujo, Ramamoorthy Ramesh, George W Taylor (Editors) (2001). Science and Technology of Integrated Ferroelectrics: Selected Papers from Eleven Years of the Proceedings of the International Symposium on Integrated Ferroelectrics. CRC Press. Figure 2, p. 504. ISBN 90-5699-704-1.
- [4] Solomon Musikant (1991). What Every Engineer Should Know about Ceramics. CRC Press. Figure 3.9, p. 43. ISBN 0-8247-8498-7.
- [5] Yasuo Cho (2005). Scanning Nonlinear Dielectric Microscope (in Polar Oxides; R Waser, U Böttger & S Tiedke, editors ed.). Wiley-VCH. Chapter 16. ISBN 3-527-40532-1.
- [6] Simon M. Sze, Kwok K. Ng (2006). *Physics of Semiconductor Devices* (3rd ed.). Wiley. Figure 25, p. 121. ISBN 0-470-06830-2.
- [7] Gabriele Giuliani, Giovanni Vignale (2005). *Quantum Theory of the Electron Liquid*. Cambridge University Press. p. 111. ISBN 0-521-82112-6.

- [8] Jørgen Rammer (2007). Quantum Field Theory of Nonequilibrium States. Cambridge University Press. p. 158. ISBN 0-521-87499-8.
- [9] Horst Czichos, Tetsuya Saito, Leslie Smith (2006). Springer Handbook of Materials Measurement Methods. Springer. p. 475. ISBN 3-540-20785-6.
- [10] William Coffey, Yu. P. Kalmykov (2006). Fractals, diffusion and relaxation in disordered complex systems..Part A. Wiley. p. 17. ISBN 0-470-04607-4.
- [11] J. Obrzut, A. Anopchenko and R. Nozaki, "Broadband Permittivity Measurements of High Dielectric Constant Films", Proceedings of the IEEE: Instrumentation and Measurement Technology Conference, 2005, pp. 1350– 1353, 16–19 May 2005, Ottawa ISBN 0-7803-8879-8 doi:10.1109/IMTC.2005.1604368
- [12] Dieter K Schroder (2006). Semiconductor Material and Device Characterization (3rd ed.). Wiley. p. 347 ff. ISBN 0-471-73906-5.
- [13] Dieter K Schroder (2006). Semiconductor Material and Device Characterization (3rd ed.). Wiley. p. 270 ff. ISBN 0-471-73906-5.
- [14] Simon M. Sze, Kwok K. Ng (2006). Physics of Semiconductor Devices (3rd ed.). Wiley. p. 217. ISBN 0-470-06830-2.
- [15] Safa O. Kasap, Peter Capper (2006). Springer Handbook of Electronic and Photonic Materials. Springer. Figure 20.22, p. 425.
- [16] PY Yu and Manuel Cardona (2001). Fundamentals of Semiconductors (3rd ed.). Springer. p. §6.6 Modulation Spectroscopy. ISBN 3-540-25470-6.
- [17] Jackson, John David (1999), *Classical Electrodynamic* (3rd. ed.), USA: John Wiley & Sons, Inc., p. 43, ISBN 978-0-471-30932-1
- [18] Maxwell, James (1873), "3", A treatise on electricity and magnetism, Volume 1, Clarendon Press, pp. 88ff
- [19] "Capacitance". Retrieved 20 September 2010.
- [20] William D. Greason (1992). *Electrostatic discharge in electronics*. Research Studies Press. p. 48. ISBN 978-0-86380-136-5. Retrieved 4 December 2011.
- [21] Lecture notes; University of New South Wales
- [22] Tipler, Paul; Mosca, Gene (2004), Physics for scientists and engineers (5th ed.), Macmillan, p. 752, ISBN 978-0-7167-0810-0
- [23] Massarini, A.; Kazimierczuk, M.K. (1997). "Selfcapacitance of inductors". *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 12 (4): 671–676. doi:10.1109/63.602562.: example of use of term self-capacitance
- [24] Jackson, J. D. (1975). Classical Electrodynamics. Wiley. p. 80.
- [25] Binns; Lawrenson (1973). Analysis and computation of electric and magnetic field problems. Pergamon Press. ISBN 978-0-08-016638-4.

- [26] Maxwell, J. C. (1873). A Treatise on Electricity and Magnetism. Dover. pp. 266 ff. ISBN 0-486-60637-6.
- [27] Rawlins, A. D. (1985). "Note on the Capacitance of Two Closely Separated Spheres". *IMA Journal of Applied Mathematics* **34** (1): 119–120. doi:10.1093/imamat/34.1.119.
- [28] Jackson, J. D. (1975). Classical Electrodynamics. Wiley. p. 128, problem 3.3.
- [29] Maxwell, J. C. (1878). "On the electrical capacity of a long narrow cylinder and of a disk of sensible thickness". *Proc. London Math. Soc.* IX: 94–101. doi:10.1112/plms/s1-9.1.94.
- [30] Vainshtein, L. A. (1962). "Static boundary problems for a hollow cylinder of finite length. III Approximate formulas". *Zh. Tekh. Fiz.* **32**: 1165–1173.
- [31] Jackson, J. D. (2000). "Charge density on thin straight wire, revisited". Am. J. Phys 68 (9): 789–799. Bibcode:2000AmJPh..68..789J. doi:10.1119/1.1302908.
- [32] Raphael Tsu (2011). Superlattice to Nanoelectronics. Elsevier. pp. 312–315. ISBN 978-0-08-096813-1.
- [33] T. LaFave Jr. (2011). "Discrete charge dielectric model of electrostatic energy". J. Electrostatics 69 (6): p. 414– 418. doi:10.1016/j.elstat.2011.06.006. Retrieved 12 February 2014.
- [34] G. J. Iafrate, K. Hess, J. B. Krieger, and M. Macucci (1995). "Capacitive nature of atomic-sized structures". *Phys. Rev. B* 52 (15). Bibcode:1995PhRvB..5210737I. doi:10.1103/physrevb.52.10737.
- [35] T. LaFave Jr and R. Tsu (March–April 2008). "Capacitance: A property of nanoscale materials based on spatial symmetry of discrete electrons" (PDF). *Microelectronics Journal* **39** (3-4): 617–623. doi:10.1016/j.mejo.2007.07.105. Retrieved 12 February 2014.

1.9 Further reading

- Tipler, Paul (1998). *Physics for Scientists and Engineers: Vol. 2: Electricity and Magnetism, Light* (4th ed.). W. H. Freeman. ISBN 1-57259-492-6
- Serway, Raymond; Jewett, John (2003). *Physics for* Scientists and Engineers (6 ed.). Brooks Cole. ISBN 0-534-40842-7
- Saslow, Wayne M.(2002). *Electricity, Magnetism,* and Light. Thomson Learning. ISBN 0-12-619455-6. See Chapter 8, and especially pp. 255–259 for coefficients of potential.

Chapter 2

Dielectric

This article is about the material. For the song by American industrial metal band Fear Factory, see Genexus (album).

Not to be confused with Dialectic.

A dielectric material (dielectric for short) is an electri-



A polarized dielectric material

cal insulator that can be polarized by an applied electric field. When a dielectric is placed in an electric field, electric charges do not flow through the material as they do in a conductor, but only slightly shift from their average equilibrium positions causing **dielectric polariza-tion**. Because of dielectric polarization, positive charges are displaced toward the field and negative charges shift in the opposite direction. This creates an internal electric field that reduces the overall field within the dielectric itself.^[1] If a dielectric is composed of weakly bonded molecules, those molecules not only become polarized, but also reorient so that their symmetry axes align to the field.^[1]

The study of dielectric properties concerns storage and dissipation of electric and magnetic energy in materials.^[2] Dielectrics are important for explaining various phenomena in electronics, optics, and solid-state physics.

2.1 Terminology

While the term *insulator* implies low electrical conduction, *dielectric* typically means materials with a high polarizability. The latter is expressed by a number called the relative permittivity (also known in older texts as dielectric constant). The term insulator is generally used to indicate electrical obstruction while the term dielectric is used to indicate the energy storing capacity of the material (by means of polarization). A common example of a dielectric is the electrically insulating material between the metallic plates of a capacitor. The polarization of the dielectric by the applied electric field increases the capacitor's surface charge for the given electric field strength.^[1]

The term "dielectric" was coined by William Whewell (from "dia-electric") in response to a request from Michael Faraday.^{[3][4]} A *perfect dielectric* is a material with zero electrical conductivity (cf. perfect conductor),^[5] thus exhibiting only a displacement current; therefore it stores and returns electrical energy as if it were an ideal capacitor.

2.2 Electric susceptibility

Main article: permittivity

The **electric susceptibility** χe of a dielectric material is a measure of how easily it polarizes in response to an electric field. This, in turn, determines the electric permittivity of the material and thus influences many other phenomena in that medium, from the capacitance of capacitors to the speed of light.

It is defined as the constant of proportionality (which may be a tensor) relating an electric field \mathbf{E} to the induced dielectric polarization density \mathbf{P} such that

 $\mathbf{P}=\varepsilon_{0}\chi_{e}\mathbf{E},$

where ε_0 is the electric permittivity of free space.

The susceptibility of a medium is related to its relative permittivity εr by

$$\chi_e = \varepsilon_r - 1.$$

So in the case of a vacuum,

$$\chi_e = 0$$

The electric displacement \mathbf{D} is related to the polarization density \mathbf{P} by

$$\mathbf{D} = \varepsilon_0 \mathbf{E} + \mathbf{P} = \varepsilon_0 (1 + \chi_e) \mathbf{E} = \varepsilon_r \varepsilon_0 \mathbf{E}.$$

2.2.1 Dispersion and causality

In general, a material cannot polarize instantaneously in response to an applied field. The more general formulation as a function of time is

$$\mathbf{P}(t) = \varepsilon_0 \int_{-\infty}^t \chi_e(t - t') \mathbf{E}(t') dt'.$$

That is, the polarization is a convolution of the electric field at previous times with time-dependent susceptibility given by $\chi e(\Delta t)$. The upper limit of this integral can be extended to infinity as well if one defines $\chi e(\Delta t) = 0$ for $\Delta t < 0$. An instantaneous response corresponds to Dirac delta function susceptibility $\chi e(\Delta t) = \chi e\delta(\Delta t)$.

It is more convenient in a linear system to take the Fourier transform and write this relationship as a function of frequency. Due to the convolution theorem, the integral becomes a simple product,

$$\mathbf{P}(\omega) = \varepsilon_0 \chi_e(\omega) \mathbf{E}(\omega).$$

Note the simple frequency dependence of the susceptibility, or equivalently the permittivity. The shape of the susceptibility with respect to frequency characterizes the dispersion properties of the material.

Moreover, the fact that the polarization can only depend on the electric field at previous times (i.e., $\chi e(\Delta t) = 0$ for $\Delta t < 0$, a consequence of causality, imposes Kramers– Kronig constraints on the real and imaginary parts of the susceptibility $\chi e(\omega)$.

2.3 Dielectric polarization

2.3.1 Basic atomic model

In the classical approach to the dielectric model, a material is made up of atoms. Each atom consists of a cloud



Electric field interaction with an atom under the classical dielectric model.

of negative charge (electrons) bound to and surrounding a positive point charge at its center. In the presence of an electric field the charge cloud is distorted, as shown in the top right of the figure.

This can be reduced to a simple dipole using the superposition principle. A dipole is characterized by its dipole moment, a vector quantity shown in the figure as the blue arrow labeled M. It is the relationship between the electric field and the dipole moment that gives rise to the behavior of the dielectric. (Note that the dipole moment points in the same direction as the electric field in the figure. This isn't always the case, and is a major simplification, but is true for many materials.)

When the electric field is removed the atom returns to its original state. The time required to do so is the so-called relaxation time; an exponential decay.

This is the essence of the model in physics. The behavior of the dielectric now depends on the situation. The more complicated the situation, the richer the model must be to accurately describe the behavior. Important questions are:

- Is the electric field constant or does it vary with time? At what rate?
- Does the response depend on the direction of the applied field (isotropy of the material)?
- Is the response the same everywhere (homogeneity of the material)?
- Do any boundaries or interfaces have to be taken into account?
- Is the response linear with respect to the field, or are there nonlinearities?

The relationship between the electric field \mathbf{E} and the dipole moment \mathbf{M} gives rise to the behavior of the dielectric, which, for a given material, can be characterized by the function \mathbf{F} defined by the equation: When both the type of electric field and the type of material have been defined, one then chooses the simplest function F that correctly predicts the phenomena of interest. Examples of phenomena that can be so modeled include:

- Refractive index
- · Group velocity dispersion
- Birefringence
- Self-focusing
- Harmonic generation

2.3.2 Dipolar polarization

Dipolar polarization is a polarization that is either inherent to polar molecules (**orientation polarization**), or can be induced in any molecule in which the asymmetric distortion of the nuclei is possible (**distortion polarization**). Orientation polarization results from a permanent dipole, e.g., that arising from the 104.45° angle between the asymmetric bonds between oxygen and hydrogen atoms in the water molecule, which retains polarization in the absence of an external electric field. The assembly of these dipoles forms a macroscopic polarization.

When an external electric field is applied, the distance between charges within each permanent dipole, which is related to chemical bonding, remains constant in orientation polarization; however, the direction of polarization itself rotates. This rotation occurs on a timescale that depends on the torque and surrounding local viscosity of the molecules. Because the rotation is not instantaneous, dipolar polarizations lose the response to electric fields at the highest frequencies. A molecule rotates about 1 radian per picosecond in a fluid, thus this loss occurs at about 10^{11} Hz (in the microwave region). The delay of the response to the change of the electric field causes friction and heat.

When an external electric field is applied at infrared frequencies or less, the molecules are bent and stretched by the field and the molecular dipole moment changes. The molecular vibration frequency is roughly the inverse of the time it takes for the molecules to bend, and this **distortion polarization** disappears above the infrared.

2.3.3 Ionic polarization

Ionic polarization is polarization caused by relative displacements between positive and negative ions in ionic crystals (for example, NaCl). If a crystal or molecule consists of atoms of more than one kind, the distribution of charges around an atom in the crystal or molecule leans to positive or negative. As a result, when lattice vibrations or molecular vibrations induce relative displacements of the atoms, the centers of positive and negative charges are also displaced. The locations of these centers are affected by the symmetry of the displacements. When the centers don't correspond, polarizations arise in molecules or crystals. This polarization is called **ionic polarization**.

Ionic polarization causes the ferroelectric effect as well as dipolar polarization. The ferroelectric transition, which is caused by the lining up of the orientations of permanent dipoles along a particular direction, is called an **orderdisorder phase transition**. The transition caused by ionic polarizations in crystals is called a **displacive phase transition**.

2.4 Dielectric dispersion

In physics, **dielectric dispersion** is the dependence of the permittivity of a dielectric material on the frequency of an applied electric field. Because there is a lag between changes in polarization and changes in the electric field, the permittivity of the dielectric is a complicated function of frequency of the electric field. Dielectric dispersion is very important for the applications of dielectric materials and for the analysis of polarization systems.

This is one instance of a general phenomenon known as material dispersion: a frequency-dependent response of a medium for wave propagation.

When the frequency becomes higher:

- dipolar polarization can no longer follow the oscillations of the electric field in the microwave region around 10¹⁰ Hz;
- ionic polarization and molecular distortion polarization can no longer track the electric field past the infrared or far-infrared region around 10¹³ Hz, ;
- electronic polarization loses its response in the ultraviolet region around 10¹⁵ Hz.

In the frequency region above ultraviolet, permittivity approaches the constant ε_0 in every substance, where ε_0 is the permittivity of the free space. Because permittivity indicates the strength of the relation between an electric field and polarization, if a polarization process loses its response, permittivity decreases.

2.5 Dielectric relaxation

Dielectric relaxation is the momentary delay (or lag) in the dielectric constant of a material. This is usually

caused by the delay in molecular polarization with respect to a changing electric field in a dielectric medium (e.g., inside capacitors or between two large conducting surfaces). Dielectric relaxation in changing electric fields could be considered analogous to hysteresis in changing magnetic fields (for inductors or transformers). Relaxation in general is a delay or lag in the response of a linear system, and therefore dielectric relaxation is measured relative to the expected linear steady state (equilibrium) dielectric values. The time lag between electrical field and polarization implies an irreversible degradation of Gibbs free energy.

In physics, **dielectric relaxation** refers to the relaxation response of a dielectric medium to an external, oscillating electric field. This relaxation is often described in terms of permittivity as a function of frequency, which can, for ideal systems, be described by the Debye equation. On the other hand, the distortion related to ionic and electronic polarization shows behavior of the resonance or oscillator type. The character of the distortion process depends on the structure, composition, and surroundings of the sample.

2.5.1 Debye relaxation

Debye relaxation is the dielectric relaxation response of an ideal, noninteracting population of dipoles to an alternating external electric field. It is usually expressed in the complex permittivity ε of a medium as a function of the field's frequency ω :

$$\hat{\varepsilon}(\omega) = \varepsilon_{\infty} + \frac{\Delta\varepsilon}{1 + i\omega\tau}$$

where $\varepsilon \infty$ is the permittivity at the high frequency limit, $\Delta \varepsilon = \varepsilon s - \varepsilon \infty$ where εs is the static, low frequency permittivity, and τ is the characteristic relaxation time of the medium.

This relaxation model was introduced by and named after the physicist Peter Debye (1913).^[6]

2.5.2 Variants of the Debye equation

• Cole–Cole equation

This equation is used when the dilectric loss peak shows symmetric broadening

• Cole–Davidson equation

This equation is used when the dilectric loss peak shows asymmetric broadening

• Havriliak-Negami relaxation

This equation considers both symmetric and asymmetric broadenig

• Kohlrausch–Williams–Watts function (Fourier transform of stretched exponential function)

2.6 Paraelectricity

Paraelectricity is the ability of many materials (specifically ceramics) to become polarized under an applied electric field. Unlike ferroelectricity, this can happen even if there is no permanent electric dipole that exists in the material, and removal of the fields results in the polarization in the material returning to zero.^[7] The mechanisms that cause **paraelectric** behaviour are the distortion of individual ions (displacement of the electron cloud from the nucleus) and polarization of molecules or combinations of ions or defects.

Paraelectricity can occur in crystal phases where electric dipoles are unaligned and thus have the potential to align in an external electric field and weaken it.

An example of a paraelectric material of high dielectric constant is strontium titanate.

The LiNbO₃ crystal is ferroelectric below 1430 K, and above this temperature it transforms into a disordered paraelectric phase. Similarly, other perovskites also exhibit paraelectricity at high temperatures.

Paraelectricity has been explored as a possible refrigeration mechanism; polarizing a paraelectric by applying an electric field under adiabatic process conditions raises the temperature, while removing the field lowers the temperature.^[8] A heat pump that operates by polarizing the paraelectric, allowing it to return to ambient temperature (by dissipating the extra heat), bringing it into contact with the object to be cooled, and finally depolarizing it, would result in refrigeration.

2.7 Tunability

Tunable dielectrics are insulators whose ability to store electrical charge changes when a voltage is applied.^{[9][10]}

Generally, strontium titanate (SrTiO

- 3) is used for devices operating at low temperatures, while barium strontium titanate (Ba
- 1-xSr

xTiO

3) substitutes for room temperature devices. Other potential materials include microwave dielectrics and carbon nanotube (CNT) composites.^{[9][11][12]}

In 2013 multi-sheet layers of strontium titanate interleaved with single layers of strontium oxide produced a dielectric capable of operating at up to 125 GHz. The material was created via molecular beam epitaxy. The two have mismatched crystal spacing that produces strain within the strontium titanate layer that makes it less stable and tunable.^[9]

Systems such as Ba 1-xSr

xTiO

3 have a paraelectric–ferroelectric transition just below ambient temperature, providing high tunability. Such films suffer significant losses arising from defects.

2.8 Applications

2.8.1 Capacitors

Main article: Capacitor Commercially manufactured capacitors typically use a



Charge separation in a parallel-plate capacitor causes an internal electric field. A dielectric (orange) reduces the field and increases the capacitance.

solid dielectric material with high permittivity as the intervening medium between the stored positive and negative charges. This material is often referred to in technical contexts as the *capacitor dielectric*.^[13]

The most obvious advantage to using such a dielectric material is that it prevents the conducting plates, on which the charges are stored, from coming into direct electrical contact. More significantly, however, a high permittivity allows a greater stored charge at a given voltage. This can be seen by treating the case of a linear dielectric with permittivity ε and thickness *d* between two conducting plates with uniform charge density $\sigma\varepsilon$. In this case the charge density is given by

$$\sigma_{\varepsilon} = \varepsilon \frac{V}{d}$$

and the capacitance per unit area by

$$c = \frac{\sigma_{\varepsilon}}{V} = \frac{\varepsilon}{d}$$

From this, it can easily be seen that a larger ε leads to greater charge stored and thus greater capacitance.

Dielectric materials used for capacitors are also chosen such that they are resistant to ionization. This allows the capacitor to operate at higher voltages before the insulating dielectric ionizes and begins to allow undesirable current.

2.8.2 Dielectric resonator

Main article: dielectric resonator

A *dielectric resonator oscillator* (DRO) is an electronic component that exhibits resonance of the polarization response for a narrow range of frequencies, generally in the microwave band. It consists of a "puck" of ceramic that has a large dielectric constant and a low dissipation factor. Such resonators are often used to provide a frequency reference in an oscillator circuit. An unshielded dielectric resonator can be used as a Dielectric Resonator Antenna (DRA).

2.9 Some practical dielectrics

Dielectric materials can be solids, liquids, or gases. In addition, a high vacuum can also be a useful, nearly lossless dielectric even though its relative dielectric constant is only unity.

Solid dielectrics are perhaps the most commonly used dielectrics in electrical engineering, and many solids are very good insulators. Some examples include porcelain, glass, and most plastics. Air, nitrogen and sulfur hexafluoride are the three most commonly used gaseous dielectrics.

- Industrial coatings such as parylene provide a dielectric barrier between the substrate and its environment.
- Mineral oil is used extensively inside electrical transformers as a fluid dielectric and to assist in cooling. Dielectric fluids with higher dielectric constants, such as electrical grade castor oil, are often used in high voltage capacitors to help prevent corona discharge and increase capacitance.

- Because dielectrics resist the flow of electricity, the surface of a dielectric may retain *stranded* excess electrical charges. This may occur accidentally when the dielectric is rubbed (the triboelectric effect). This can be useful, as in a Van de Graaff generator or electrophorus, or it can be potentially destructive as in the case of electrostatic discharge.
- Specially processed dielectrics, called electrets (which should not be confused with ferroelectrics), may retain excess internal charge or "frozen in" polarization. Electrets have a semipermanent electric field, and are the electrostatic equivalent to magnets. Electrets have numerous practical applications in the home and industry.
- Some dielectrics can generate a potential difference when subjected to mechanical stress, or (equivalently) change physical shape if an external voltage is applied across the material. This property is called piezoelectricity. Piezoelectric materials are another class of very useful dielectrics.
- Some ionic crystals and polymer dielectrics exhibit a spontaneous dipole moment, which can be reversed by an externally applied electric field. This behavior is called the ferroelectric effect. These materials are analogous to the way ferromagnetic materials behave within an externally applied magnetic field. Ferroelectric materials often have very high dielectric constants, making them quite useful for capacitors.

2.10 See also

- Classification of materials based on permittivity
- Paramagnetism
- Ferroelectricity
- Clausius-Mossotti relation
- Dielectric losses
- Dielectric strength
- Dielectric spectroscopy
- EIA Class 1 dielectric
- EIA Class 2 dielectric
- High-k dielectric
- Low-k dielectric
- leakage
- Linear response function
- Metamaterial
- RC delay
- Rotational Brownian motion

2.11 References

- [1] Quote from Encyclopædia Britannica: "Dielectric, insulating material or a very poor conductor of electric current. When dielectrics are placed in an electric field, practically no current flows in them because, unlike metals, they have no loosely bound, or free, electrons that may drift through the material."
 - "Dielectrics (physics)". *Britannica*. 2009. p. 1. Retrieved 2009-08-12.
- [2] Arthur R. von Hippel, in his seminal work, *Dielectric Materials and Applications*, stated: "*Dielectrics...* are not a narrow class of so-called insulators, but the broad expanse of *nonmetals* considered from the standpoint of their interaction with electric, magnetic, or electromagnetic fields. Thus we are concerned with gases as well as with liquids and solids, and with the storage of electric and magnetic energy as well as its dissipation." (Technology Press of MIT and John Wiley, NY, 1954).
- [3] J. Daintith (1994). Biographical Encyclopedia of Scientists. CRC Press. p. 943. ISBN 0-7503-0287-9.
- [4] James, Frank A.J.L., editor. The Correspondence of Michael Faraday, Volume 3, 1841–1848, "Letter 1798, William Whewell to Faraday, p. 442.". The Institution of Electrical Engineers, London, United Kingdom, 1996. ISBN 0-86341-250-5
- [5] *Microwave Engineering R. S. Rao (Prof.)*. Retrieved 2013-11-08.
- [6] P. Debye (1913), Ver. Deut. Phys. Gesell. 15, 777; reprinted 1954 in collected papers of Peter J.W. Debye Interscience, New York
- [7] Chiang, Y. et al.: Physical Ceramics, John Wiley & Sons 1997, New York
- [8] Kuhn, U.; Lüty, F. (1965). "Paraelectric heating and cooling with OH--dipoles in alkali halides". *Solid State Communications* **3** (2): 31. doi:10.1016/0038-1098(65)90060-8.
- [9] "Self-correcting crystal may lead to the next generation of advanced communications". KurzweilAI. doi:10.1038/nature12582. Retrieved 2013-11-08.
- [10] Lee, C. H.; Orloff, N. D.; Birol, T.; Zhu, Y.; Goian, V.; Rocas, E.; Haislmaier, R.; Vlahos, E.; Mundy, J. A.; Kourkoutis, L. F.; Nie, Y.; Biegalski, M. D.; Zhang, J.; Bernhagen, M.; Benedek, N. A.; Kim, Y.; Brock, J. D.; Uecker, R.; Xi, X. X.; Gopalan, V.; Nuzhnyy, D.; Kamba, S.; Muller, D. A.; Takeuchi, I.; Booth, J. C.; Fennie, C. J.; Schlom, D. G. (2013). "Exploiting dimensionality and defect mitigation to create tunable microwave dielectrics". *Nature* **502** (7472): 532–536. doi:10.1038/nature12582. PMID 24132232.
- [11] "Electrically tunable dielectric materials and strategies to improve their performances". *Progress* in *Materials Science* 55: 840–893. 2010-11-30. doi:10.1016/j.pmatsci.2010.04.004. Retrieved 2013-11-08.

- [12] Giere, A.; Zheng, Y.; Maune, H.; Sazegar, M.; Paul, F.; Zhou, X.; Binder, J. R.; Muller, S.; Jakoby, R. (2008). "Tunable dielectrics for microwave applications". 2008 17th IEEE International Symposium on the Applications of Ferroelectrics. p. 1. doi:10.1109/ISAF.2008.4693753. ISBN 978-1-4244-2744-4.
- [13] Mussig & Hans-Joachim, Semiconductor capacitor with praseodymium oxide as dielectric, U.S. Patent 7,113,388 published 2003-11-06, issued 2004-10-18, assigned to IHP GmbH- Innovations for High Performance Microelectronics/Institute Fur Innovative Mikroelektronik

2.12 Further reading

- Jackson, John David (August 10, 1998). *Classical Electrodynamics* (3 rd ed.). John Wiley & Sons. ISBN 978-0-471-30932-1. 808 or 832 pages.
- Scaife, Brendan (September 3, 1998). *Principles of Dielectrics (Monographs on the Physics & Chemistry of Materials)* (2 nd ed.). Oxford University Press. ISBN 978-0198565574.

2.13 External links

- Electromagnetism A chapter from an online textbook
- Dielectric Sphere in an Electric Field
- DoITPoMS Teaching and Learning Package "Dielectric Materials"
- Texts on Wikisource:
 - "Dielectric". Encyclopedia Americana. 1920.
 - "Dielectric". *Encyclopædia Britannica* (11th ed.). 1911.

Chapter 3

Permittivity



A dielectric medium showing orientation of charged particles creating polarization effects. Such a medium can have a higher ratio of electric flux to charge (permittivity) than empty space

In electromagnetism, **absolute permittivity** is the measure of the resistance that is encountered when forming an electric field in a medium. In other words, permittivity is a measure of how an electric field affects, and is affected by, a dielectric medium. The permittivity of a medium describes how much electric field (more correctly, flux) is 'generated' per unit charge in that medium. More electric flux exists in a medium with a low permittivity (per unit charge) because of polarization effects. Permittivity is directly related to electric susceptibility, which is a measure of how easily a dielectric polarizes in response to an electric field. Thus, permittivity relates to a material's ability to **resist** an electric field (while unfortunately the word stem "permit" suggests the inverse quantity).

In SI units, permittivity ε is measured in farads per meter (F/m); electric susceptibility χ is dimensionless. They are related to each other through

 $\varepsilon = \varepsilon_{\rm r} \varepsilon_0 = (1 + \chi) \varepsilon_0$

where ε_r is the relative permittivity of the material, and $\varepsilon_0 = 8.8541878176.. \times 10^{-12}$ F/m is the vacuum permittivity.

3.1 Explanation

In electromagnetism, the electric displacement field **D** represents how an electric field **E** influences the organization of electric charges in a given medium, including charge migration and electric dipole reorientation. Its relation to permittivity in the very simple case of *linear*, *homogeneous*, *isotropic* materials with *"instantaneous" response* to changes in electric field is

$\mathbf{D} = \varepsilon \mathbf{E}$

where the permittivity ε is a scalar. If the medium is anisotropic, the permittivity is a second rank tensor.

In general, permittivity is not a constant, as it can vary with the position in the medium, the frequency of the field applied, humidity, temperature, and other parameters. In a nonlinear medium, the permittivity can depend on the strength of the electric field. Permittivity as a function of frequency can take on real or complex values.

In SI units, permittivity is measured in farads per meter (F/m or $A^2 \cdot s^4 \cdot kg^{-1} \cdot m^{-3}$). The displacement field **D** is measured in units of coulombs per square meter (C/m²), while the electric field **E** is measured in volts per meter (V/m). **D** and **E** describe the interaction between charged objects. **D** is related to the *charge densities* associated with this interaction, while **E** is related to the *forces* and *potential differences*.

3.2 Vacuum permittivity

Main article: Vacuum permittivity

The vacuum permittivity ε_0 (also called **permittivity of free space** or the **electric constant**) is the ratio **D/E** in free space. It also appears in the Coulomb force constant, $k_e = 1/(4\pi\varepsilon_0)$.

Its value is^[1]

$$\varepsilon_0 \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \frac{1}{c_0^2 \mu_0} = \frac{1}{35950207149.4727056\pi} \frac{\text{F}}{\text{m}} \approx 8.8541878176\ldots \times 10^{-12} \text{ F}$$

where

$$c_0$$
 is the speed of light in free space,^[2]

 μ_0 is the vacuum permeability.

Constants c_0 and μ_0 are defined in SI units to have exact numerical values, shifting responsibility of experiment to the determination of the meter and the ampere.^[3] (The approximation in the second value of ε_0 above stems from π being an irrational number.)

3.3 Relative permittivity

Main article: Relative permittivity

The linear permittivity of a homogeneous material is usually given relative to that of free space, as a relative permittivity ε_r (also called dielectric constant, although this sometimes only refers to the static, zero-frequency relative permittivity). In an anisotropic material, the relative permittivity may be a tensor, causing birefringence. The actual permittivity is then calculated by multiplying the relative permittivity by ε_0 :

$$\varepsilon = \varepsilon_{\mathbf{r}}\varepsilon_0 = (1+\chi)\varepsilon_0,$$

where χ (frequently written χ_e) is the electric susceptibility of the material.

The susceptibility is defined as the constant of proportionality (which may be a tensor) relating an electric field \mathbf{E} to the induced dielectric polarization density \mathbf{P} such that

$$\mathbf{P}=\varepsilon_0\chi\mathbf{E},$$

where ε_0 is the electric permittivity of free space.

The susceptibility of a medium is related to its relative permittivity ε_r by

$$\chi = \varepsilon_{\rm r} - 1.$$

So in the case of a vacuum,

$\chi = 0.$

The susceptibility is also related to the polarizability of individual particles in the medium by the Clausius-Mossotti relation.

The electric displacement \mathbf{D} is related to the polarization density \mathbf{P} by

$$\mathbf{D} = \varepsilon_0 \mathbf{E} + \mathbf{P} = \varepsilon_0 (1 + \chi) \mathbf{E} = \varepsilon_r \varepsilon_0 \mathbf{E}.$$

The permittivity ε and permeability μ of a medium together determine the phase velocity v = c/n of electromagnetic radiation through that medium:

$$\varepsilon \mu = \frac{1}{v^2}.$$

3.4 Dispersion and causality

In general, a material cannot polarize instantaneously in response to an applied field, and so the more general formulation as a function of time is

$$\mathbf{P}(t) = \varepsilon_0 \int_{-\infty}^t \chi(t - t') \mathbf{E}(t') dt'$$

That is, the polarization is a convolution of the electric field at previous times with time-dependent susceptibility given by $\chi(\Delta t)$. The upper limit of this integral can be extended to infinity as well if one defines $\chi(\Delta t) = 0$ for $\Delta t < 0$. An instantaneous response would correspond to a Dirac delta function susceptibility $\chi(\Delta t) = \chi \, \delta(\Delta t)$.

It is convenient to take the Fourier transform with respect to time and write this relationship as a function of frequency. Because of the convolution theorem, the integral becomes a simple product,

$$\mathbf{P}(\omega) = \varepsilon_0 \chi(\omega) \mathbf{E}(\omega).$$

This frequency dependence of the susceptibility leads to frequency dependence of the permittivity. The shape of the susceptibility with respect to frequency characterizes the dispersion properties of the material.

Moreover, the fact that the polarization can only depend on the electric field at previous times (i.e. effectively $\chi(\Delta t) = 0$ for $\Delta t < 0$), a consequence of causality, imposes Kramers–Kronig constraints on the susceptibility $\chi(0)$.

3.4.1 Complex permittivity

As opposed to the response of a vacuum, the response of normal materials to external fields generally depends on the frequency of the field. This frequency dependence reflects the fact that a material's polarization does not respond instantaneously to an applied field. The response must always be *causal* (arising after the applied field) which can be represented by a phase difference. For this reason, permittivity is often treated as a complex function of the (angular) frequency of the applied field ω : $\varepsilon \rightarrow \widehat{\varepsilon}(\omega)$ (since complex numbers allow specification of magnitude and phase). The definition of permittivity therefore becomes



A dielectric permittivity spectrum over a wide range of frequencies. ε' and ε'' denote the real and the imaginary part of the permittivity, respectively. Various processes are labeled on the image: ionic and dipolar relaxation, and atomic and electronic resonances at higher energies.^[4]

$$D_0 e^{-i\omega t} = \widehat{\varepsilon}(\omega) E_0 e^{-i\omega t},$$

where

 D_0 and E_0 are the amplitudes of the displacement and electric fields, respectively,

i is the imaginary unit, $i^2 = -1$.

The response of a medium to static electric fields is described by the low-frequency limit of permittivity, also called the static permittivity ε_s (also εDC):

$$\varepsilon_{\rm s} = \lim_{\omega \to 0} \widehat{\varepsilon}(\omega).$$

At the high-frequency limit, the complex permittivity is commonly referred to as $\varepsilon\infty$. At the plasma frequency and above, dielectrics behave as ideal metals, with electron gas behavior. The static permittivity is a good approximation for alternating fields of low frequencies, and as the frequency increases a measurable phase difference δ emerges between **D** and **E**. The frequency at which the phase shift becomes noticeable depends on temperature and the details of the medium. For moderate fields strength (E_0), **D** and **E** remain proportional, and

$$\widehat{\varepsilon} = \frac{D_0}{E_0} = |\varepsilon| e^{i\delta}.$$

Since the response of materials to alternating fields is characterized by a complex permittivity, it is natural to separate its real and imaginary parts, which is done by convention in the following way:

$$\widehat{\varepsilon}(\omega) = \varepsilon'(\omega) + i\varepsilon''(\omega) = \frac{D_0}{E_0} \left(\cos \delta + i \sin \delta\right).$$

where

 ε ' is the real part of the permittivity, which is related to the stored energy within the medium;

 ε " is the imaginary part of the permittivity, which is related to the dissipation (or loss) of energy within the medium;

 δ is the loss angle.

The choice of sign for time-dependence, $\exp(-i\omega t)$, dictates the sign convention for the imaginary part of permittivity. The signs used here correspond to those commonly used in physics, whereas for the engineering convention one should reverse all imaginary quantities.

The complex permittivity is usually a complicated function of frequency ω , since it is a superimposed description of dispersion phenomena occurring at multiple frequencies. The dielectric function $\varepsilon(\omega)$ must have poles only for frequencies with positive imaginary parts, and therefore satisfies the Kramers–Kronig relations. However, in the narrow frequency ranges that are often studied in practice, the permittivity can be approximated as frequency-independent or by model functions.

At a given frequency, the imaginary part of $\hat{\varepsilon}$ leads to absorption loss if it is positive (in the above sign convention) and gain if it is negative. More generally, the imaginary parts of the eigenvalues of the anisotropic dielectric tensor should be considered.

In the case of solids, the complex dielectric function is intimately connected to band structure. The primary quantity that characterizes the electronic structure of any crystalline material is the probability of photon absorption, which is directly related to the imaginary part of the optical dielectric function $\varepsilon(\omega)$. The optical dielectric function is given by the fundamental expression:^[5]

$$\varepsilon(\omega) = 1 + \frac{8\pi^2 e^2}{m^2} \sum_{c,v} \int W_{c,v}(E) \left[\varphi(\hbar\omega - E) - \varphi(\hbar\omega + E)\right] dx$$

In this expression, Wc, v(E) represents the product of the Brillouin zone-averaged transition probability at the energy *E* with the joint density of states,^{[6][7]} *Jc*, v(E); φ is a broadening function, representing the role of scattering in smearing out the energy levels.^[8] In general, the broadening is intermediate between Lorentzian and Gaussian;^{[9][10]} for an alloy it is somewhat closer to Gaussian because of strong scattering from statistical fluctuations in the local composition on a nanometer scale.

3.4.2 Tensorial permittivity

According to the Drude model of magnetized plasma, a more general expression which takes into account the interaction of the carriers with an alternating electric field at millimeter and microwave frequencies in an axially magnetized semiconductor requires the expression of the permittivity as a non-diagonal tensor.^[11] (see also Electrogyration).

$$\mathbf{D}(\omega) = \begin{vmatrix} \varepsilon_1 & -i\varepsilon_2 & 0\\ i\varepsilon_2 & \varepsilon_1 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & \varepsilon_z \end{vmatrix} \mathbf{E}(\omega)$$

If ε_2 vanishes, then the tensor is diagonal but not proportional to the identity and the medium is said to be a uniaxial medium, which has similar properties to a uniaxial crystal.

3.4.3 Classification of materials

Materials can be classified according to their complexvalued permittivity ε , upon comparison of its real ε ' and imaginary ε " components (or, equivalently, conductivity, σ , when it's accounted for in the latter). A perfect con*ductor* has infinite conductivity, $\sigma = \infty$, while a *perfect dielectric* is a material that has no conductivity at all, $\sigma=0$; this latter case, of real-valued permittivity (or complexvalued permittivity with zero imaginary component) is also associated with the name lossless media.^[12] Generally, when $\sigma/(\omega \varepsilon) \ll 1$ we consider the material to be a low-loss dielectric (nearly though not exactly lossless), whereas $\sigma/(\omega \varepsilon') \gg 1$ is associated with a good conductor; such materials with non-negligible conductivity yield a large amount of loss that inhibit the propagation of electromagnetic waves, thus are also said to be lossy media. Those materials that do not fall under either limit are considered to be general media.

3.4.4 Lossy medium

In the case of lossy medium, i.e. when the conduction current is not negligible, the total current density flowing is:

$$J_{\rm tot} = J_{\rm c} + J_{\rm d} = \sigma E - i\omega\varepsilon' E = -i\omega\widehat{\varepsilon}E$$

where

- σ is the conductivity of the medium;
- ε ' is the real part of the permittivity.
- $\hat{\varepsilon}$ is the complex permittivity

The size of the displacement current is dependent on the frequency ω of the applied field *E*; there is no displacement current in a constant field.

In this formalism, the complex permittivity is defined as:^[13]

$$\widehat{\varepsilon} = \varepsilon' + i\frac{\sigma}{\omega}$$

In general, the absorption of electromagnetic energy by dielectrics is covered by a few different mechanisms that influence the shape of the permittivity as a function of frequency:

- First, are the relaxation effects associated with permanent and induced molecular dipoles. At low frequencies the field changes slowly enough to allow dipoles to reach equilibrium before the field has measurably changed. For frequencies at which dipole orientations cannot follow the applied field because of the viscosity of the medium, absorption of the field's energy leads to energy dissipation. The mechanism of dipoles relaxing is called dielectric relaxation and for ideal dipoles is described by classic Debye relaxation.
- Second are the resonance effects, which arise from the rotations or vibrations of atoms, ions, or electrons. These processes are observed in the neighborhood of their characteristic absorption frequencies.

The above effects often combine to cause non-linear effects within capacitors. For example, dielectric absorption refers to the inability of a capacitor that has been charged for a long time to completely discharge when briefly discharged. Although an ideal capacitor would remain at zero volts after being discharged, real capacitors will develop a small voltage, a phenomenon that is also called *soakage* or *battery action*. For some dielectrics, such as many polymer films, the resulting voltage may be less than 1-2% of the original voltage. However, it can be as much as 15 - 25% in the case of electrolytic capacitors or supercapacitors.

3.4.5 Quantum-mechanical interpretation

In terms of quantum mechanics, permittivity is explained by atomic and molecular interactions.

At low frequencies, molecules in polar dielectrics are polarized by an applied electric field, which induces periodic rotations. For example, at the microwave frequency, the microwave field causes the periodic rotation of water molecules, sufficient to break hydrogen bonds. The field does work against the bonds and the energy is absorbed by the material as heat. This is why microwave ovens work very well for materials containing water. There are two maxima of the imaginary component (the absorptive index) of water, one at the microwave frequency, and the other at far ultraviolet (UV) frequency. Both of these resonances are at higher frequencies than the operating frequency of microwave ovens.

At moderate frequencies, the energy is too high to cause rotation, yet too low to affect electrons directly, and is absorbed in the form of resonant molecular vibrations. In water, this is where the absorptive index starts to drop sharply, and the minimum of the imaginary permittivity is at the frequency of blue light (optical regime).

At high frequencies (such as UV and above), molecules cannot relax, and the energy is purely absorbed by atoms, exciting electron energy levels. Thus, these frequencies are classified as ionizing radiation.

While carrying out a complete *ab initio* (that is, firstprinciples) modelling is now computationally possible, it has not been widely applied yet. Thus, a phenomenological model is accepted as being an adequate method of capturing experimental behaviors. The Debye model and the Lorentz model use a 1st-order and 2nd-order (respectively) lumped system parameter linear representation (such as an RC and an LRC resonant circuit).

3.5 Measurement

Main article: dielectric spectroscopy

The dielectric constant of a material can be found by a variety of static electrical measurements. The complex permittivity is evaluated over a wide range of frequencies by using different variants of dielectric spectroscopy, covering nearly 21 orders of magnitude from 10^{-6} to 10^{15} Hz. Also, by using cryostats and ovens, the dielectric properties of a medium can be characterized over an array of temperatures. In order to study systems for such diverse excitation fields, a number of measurement setups are used, each adequate for a special frequency range.

Various microwave measurement techniques are outlined in Chen *et al.*.^[14] Typical errors for the Hakki-Coleman method employing a puck of material between conducting planes are about 0.3%.^[15]

- Low-frequency time domain measurements $(10^{-6}-10^3 \text{ Hz})$
- Low-frequency frequency domain measurements $(10^{-5}-10^6 \text{ Hz})$
- Reflective coaxial methods $(10^6 10^{10} \text{ Hz})$
- Transmission coaxial method $(10^8 10^{11} \text{ Hz})$
- Quasi-optical methods $(10^9 10^{10} \text{ Hz})$
- Terahertz time-domain spectroscopy (10¹¹-10¹³ Hz)
- Fourier-transform methods $(10^{11}-10^{15} \text{ Hz})$

At infrared and optical frequencies, a common technique is ellipsometry. Dual polarisation interferometry is also used to measure the complex refractive index for very thin films at optical frequencies.

3.6 See also

- Acoustic attenuation
- Density functional theory
- Electric-field screening
- Green-Kubo relations
- Green's function (many-body theory)
- Linear response function
- Rotational Brownian motion
- Electromagnetic permeability

3.7 References

- [1] electric constant
- [2] Current practice of standards organizations such as NIST and BIPM is to use c_0 , rather than c, to denote the speed of light in vacuum according to ISO 31. In the original Recommendation of 1983, the symbol c was used for this purpose. See NIST *Special Publication 330*, Appendix 2, p. 45.
- [3] Latest (2006) values of the constants (NIST)
- [4] Dielectric Spectroscopy
- [5] Peter Y. Yu, Manuel Cardona (2001). Fundamentals of Semiconductors: Physics and Materials Properties. Berlin: Springer. p. 261. ISBN 3-540-25470-6.
- [6] José García Solé, Jose Solé, Luisa Bausa, (2001). An introduction to the optical spectroscopy of inorganic solids.
 Wiley. Appendix A1, pp, 263. ISBN 0-470-86885-6.
- John H. Moore, Nicholas D. Spencer (2001). *Encyclopedia of chemical physics and physical chemistry*. Taylor and Francis. p. 105. ISBN 0-7503-0798-6.
- [8] Solé, José García; Bausá, Louisa E; Jaque, Daniel (2005-03-22). Solé and Bausa. p. 10. ISBN 3-540-25470-6.
- [9] Hartmut Haug, Stephan W. Koch (1994). Quantum Theory of the Optical and Electronic Properties of Semiconductors. World Scientific. p. 196. ISBN 981-02-1864-8.
- [10] Manijeh Razeghi (2006). Fundamentals of Solid State Engineering. Birkhauser. p. 383. ISBN 0-387-28152-5.
- [11] Prati E. (2003) "Propagation in gyroelectromagnetic guiding systems", J. of Electr. Wav. and Appl. 17, 8, 1177

- [12] http://www.ece.rutgers.edu/~{}orfanidi/ewa/ch01.pdf
- [13] John S. Seybold (2005) Introduction to RF propagation. 330 pp, eq.(2.6), p.22.
- [14] Linfeng Chen, V. V. Varadan, C. K. Ong, Chye Poh Neo (2004). "Microwave theory and techniques for materials characterization". *Microwave electronics*. Wiley. p. 37. ISBN 0-470-84492-2.
- [15] Mailadil T. Sebastian (2008). Dielectric Materials for Wireless Communication. Elsevier. p. 19. ISBN 0-08-045330-9.

3.8 Further reading

- Theory of Electric Polarization: Dielectric Polarization, C.J.F. Böttcher, ISBN 0-444-41579-3
- *Dielectrics and Waves* edited by von Hippel, Arthur R., ISBN 0-89006-803-8
- *Dielectric Materials and Applications* edited by Arthur von Hippel, ISBN 0-89006-805-4.

3.9 External links

- Electromagnetism, a chapter from an online textbook
- What's all this trapped charge stuff . . ., A different approach to some capacitor problems
- Complex Permittivites of Metals, Plots of the complex permittivity and refractive index for many different metals.

Chapter 4

Electric susceptibility

In electromagnetism, the **electric susceptibility** χ_e (latin: *susceptibilis* "receptive") is a dimensionless proportionality constant that indicates the degree of polarization of a dielectric material in response to an applied electric field. The greater the electric susceptibility, the greater the ability of a material to polarize in response to the field, and thereby reduce the total electric field inside the material (and store energy). It is in this way that the electric susceptibility influences the electric permittivity of the material and thus influences many other phenomena in that medium, from the capacitance of capacitors to the speed of light.^{[1][2]}

4.1 Definition of volume susceptibility

Electric susceptibility is defined as the constant of proportionality (which may be a tensor) relating an electric field \mathbf{E} to the induced dielectric polarization density \mathbf{P} such that:

$$\mathbf{P} = \varepsilon_0 \chi_{\rm e} \mathbf{E},$$

where

- **P** is the polarization density;
- ε_0 is the electric permittivity of free space;
- χ_e is the electric susceptibility;
- E is the electric field.

The susceptibility is also related to the polarizability of individual particles in the medium by the Clausius-Mossotti relation. The susceptibility is related to its relative permittivity ε_r by:

 $\chi_{\rm e} = \varepsilon_{\rm r} - 1$

So in the case of a vacuum:

 $\chi_{\rm e} = 0$

At the same time, the electric displacement **D** is related to the polarization density **P** by:

 $\mathbf{D} = \varepsilon_0 \mathbf{E} + \mathbf{P} = \varepsilon_0 (1 + \chi_e) \mathbf{E} = \varepsilon_r \varepsilon_0 \mathbf{E}.$

4.2 Molecular polarizability

A similar parameter exists to relate the magnitude of the induced dipole moment **p** of an individual molecule to the local electric field **E** that induced the dipole. This parameter is the *molecular polarizability* (α), and the dipole moment resulting from the local electric field **E**_{local} is given by:

 $\mathbf{p} = \varepsilon_0 \alpha \mathbf{E}_{\text{local}}$

This introduces a complication however, as locally the field can differ significantly from the overall applied field. We have:

$$\mathbf{P} = N\mathbf{p} = N\varepsilon_0 \alpha \mathbf{E}_{\text{local}},$$

where \mathbf{P} is the polarization per unit volume, and N is the number of molecules per unit volume contributing to the polarization. Thus, if the local electric field is parallel to the ambient electric field, we have:

 $\chi_{\rm e}\mathbf{E} = N\alpha\mathbf{E}_{\rm local}$

Thus only if the local field equals the ambient field can we write:

$$\chi_{e} = N \alpha$$

4.3 Nonlinear susceptibility

In many materials the polarizability starts to saturate at high values of electric field. This saturation can be modelled by a **nonlinear susceptibility**. These susceptibilities are important in nonlinear optics and lead to effects such as second harmonic generation (such as used to convert infrared light into visible light, in green laser pointers).

The standard definition of nonlinear susceptibilities in SI units is via a Taylor expansion of the polarization's reaction to electric field:^[3]

$$P = P_0 + \varepsilon_0 \chi^{(1)} E + \varepsilon_0 \chi^{(2)} E^2 + \varepsilon_0 \chi^{(3)} E^3 + \cdots$$

(Except in ferroelectric materials, the built-in polarization is zero, $P_0 = 0$.) The first susceptibility term, $\chi^{(1)}$, corresponds to the linear susceptibility described above. While this first term is dimensionless, the subsequent nonlinear susceptibilities $\chi^{(n)}$ have units of $(m/V)^{n-1}$.

The nonlinear susceptibilities can be generalized to anisotropic materials (where each susceptibility $\chi^{(n)}$ becomes an n+1-rank tensor).

4.4 Dispersion and causality



Schematic plot of the dielectric constant as a function of light frequency showing several resonances and plateaus indicating the activation of certain processes which can respond to the perturbation on the timescales of the frequency of the light. This demonstrates that thinking of the susceptibility in terms of its Fourier transform is useful, as light is a constant-frequency perturbation to a material

In general, a material cannot polarize instantaneously in response to an applied field, and so the more general formulation as a function of time is

$$\mathbf{P}(t) = \varepsilon_0 \int_{-\infty}^t \chi_{\mathsf{e}}(t-t') \mathbf{E}(t') \, dt'.$$

That is, the polarization is a convolution of the electric field at previous times with time-dependent susceptibility given by $\chi_{e}(\Delta t)$. The upper limit of this integral can be extended to infinity as well if one defines $\chi_{e}(\Delta t) = 0$ for $\Delta t < 0$. An instantaneous response corresponds to Dirac delta function susceptibility $\chi_{e}(\Delta t) = \chi_{e}\delta(\Delta t)$.

It is more convenient in a linear system to take the Fourier transform and write this relationship as a function of frequency. Due to the convolution theorem, the integral becomes a simple product,

$$\mathbf{P}(\omega) = \varepsilon_0 \chi_{\mathbf{e}}(\omega) \mathbf{E}(\omega).$$

This frequency dependence of the susceptibility leads to frequency dependence of the permittivity. The shape of the susceptibility with respect to frequency characterizes the dispersion properties of the material.

Moreover, the fact that the polarization can only depend on the electric field at previous times (i.e. $\chi_{\rm e}(\Delta t) = 0$ for $\Delta t < 0$), a consequence of causality, imposes Kramers– Kronig constraints on the susceptibility $\chi_{\rm e}(0)$.

4.5 See also

- Application of tensor theory in physics
- Magnetic susceptibility
- Maxwell's equations
- Permittivity
- Clausius-Mossotti relation
- Linear response function
- Green–Kubo relations

4.6 References

- [1] "Electric susceptibility". Encyclopædia Britannica.
- [2] Cardarelli, François (2000, 2008). Materials Handbook: A Concise Desktop Reference (2nd ed.). London: Springer-Verlag. pp. 524 (Section 8.1.16). doi:10.1007/978-1-84628-669-8. ISBN 978-1-84628-668-1. Check date values in: ldate= (help)
- [3] Paul N. Butcher, David Cotter, *The Elements of Nonlinear Optics*

Chapter 5

Polarization density

In classical electromagnetism, **polarization density** (or **electric polarization**, or simply **polarization**) is the vector field that expresses the density of permanent or induced electric dipole moments in a dielectric material. When a dielectric is placed in an external electric field, its molecules gain electric dipole moment and the dielectric is said to be polarized. The electric dipole moment induced per unit volume of the dielectric material is called the electric polarization of the dielectric.^{[1][2]}

Polarization density also describes how a material responds to an applied electric field as well as the way the material changes the electric field, and can be used to calculate the forces that result from those interactions. It can be compared to magnetization, which is the measure of the corresponding response of a material to a magnetic field in magnetism. The SI unit of measure is coulombs per square meter, and polarization density is represented by a vector \mathbf{P} .^[2]

5.1 Definition

An external electric field that is applied to a dielectric material, causes a displacement of bound charged elements. These are elements which are bound to molecules and are not free to move around the material. Positive charged elements are displaced in the direction of the field, and negative charged elements are displaced opposite to the direction of the field. The molecules may remain neutral in charge, yet an electric dipole moment forms.^{[3][4]}

For a certain volume element in the material ΔV , which carries a dipole moment $\Delta \mathbf{p}$, we define the polarization vector \mathbf{P} :

$$\mathbf{P} = \frac{\Delta \mathbf{p}}{\Delta V}$$

In general, the dipole moment $\Delta \mathbf{p}$ changes from point to point within the dielectric. Hence, the polarization density \mathbf{P} of an infinitesimal change d \mathbf{p} in the dipole moment for a given change dV in the volume is:

$$\mathbf{P} = \frac{\mathrm{d}\mathbf{p}}{\mathrm{d}V} \qquad (1)$$

The net charge appearing as a result of polarization is called bound charge and denoted Q_b .

5.2 Other Expressions

Let a volume dV be isolated inside the dielectric. Due to polarization the positive bound charge dq_b^+ will be displaced a distance **d** relative to the negative bound charge dq_b^- , giving rise to a dipole moment $d\mathbf{p} = dq_b\mathbf{d}$. Replacing this expression into (1) we get:

$$\mathbf{P} = \frac{\mathrm{d}q_b}{\mathrm{d}V}\mathbf{d}$$

Since the charge dq_b bounded in the volume dV is equal to $\rho_b dV$ the equation for **P** becomes:^[3]

$$\mathbf{P} = \rho_b \mathbf{d} \qquad (2)$$

where ρ_b is the density of the bound charge in the volume under consideration.

5.3 Gauss's Law for the Field of *P*

For a given volume V enclosed by a surface S, the bound charge Q_b inside it is equal to the flux of **P** through S taken with the negative sign, or

$$-Q_b = \oint \int S \mathbf{P} \cdot d\mathbf{A} \qquad (3)$$

5.3.1 Differential Form

By the divergence theorem, Gauss's law for the field **P** can be stated in *differential form* as:

 $-\rho_b = \nabla \cdot \mathbf{P}$

where $\nabla \cdot \mathbf{P}$ is the divergence of the field \mathbf{P} through a given surface containing the bound charge density ρ_b .

5.4 Relationship between the fields of *P* and *E*

5.4.1 Homogeneous, Isotropic Dielectrics



Field lines of the **D**-field in a dielectric sphere with greater susceptibility than its surroundings, placed in a previously-uniform field.^[5] The field lines of the **E**-field are not shown: These point in the same directions, but many field lines start and end on the surface of the sphere, where there is bound charge. As a result, the density of E-field lines is lower inside the sphere than outside, which corresponds to the fact that the E-field is weaker inside the sphere than outside.

In a homogeneous linear and isotropic dielectric medium, the **polarization** is aligned with and proportional to the electric field **E**:^[6]

$$\mathbf{P} = \chi \varepsilon_0 \mathbf{E}$$

where ε_0 is the electric constant, and χ is the electric susceptibility of the medium. Note that χ is just a scalar. This is a particular case due to the *isotropy* of the dielectric.

Taking into account this relation between \mathbf{P} and \mathbf{E} , equation (3) becomes:^[3]

$$-Q_b = \chi \varepsilon_0 \iint_{S \mathbf{E} \cdot \mathbf{dA}}$$

The expression in the integral is Gauss's law for the field **E** which yields the total charge, both free (Q_f) and bound (Q_b) , in the volume V enclosed by S.^[3] Therefore

$$-Q_b = \chi Q_{\text{total}}$$
$$= \chi (Q_f + Q_b)$$
$$Q_b = -\frac{\chi}{1 + \chi} Q_f,$$

which can be written in terms of free charge and bound charge densities (by considering the relationship between the charges, their volume charge densities and the given volume):

$$\rho_b = -\frac{\chi}{1+\chi}\rho_f$$

Since within a homogeneous dielectric there can be no free charges ($\rho_f = 0$), by the last equation it follows that there is no bulk bound charge in the material ($\rho_b = 0$). And since free charges can get as close to the dielectric as to its topmost surface, it follows that polarization only gives rise to surface bound charge density (denoted σ_b to avoid ambiguity with the volume bound charge density ρ_b).^[3]

 σ_b may be related to **P** by the following equation:^[7]

$\sigma_b = \mathbf{P} \cdot \mathbf{\hat{n}_{out}}$

where $\mathbf{\hat{h}}_{out}$ is the normal vector to the surface S pointing outwards.

5.4.2 Anisotropic Dielectrics

The class of dielectrics where the polarization density and the electric field are not in the same direction are known as *anisotropic* materials.

In such materials, the ith component of the polarization is related to the jth component of the electric field according to:^[6]

$$P_i = \sum_j \epsilon_0 \chi_{ij} E_j,$$

This relation shows, for example, that a material can polarize in the x direction by applying a field in the z direction, and so on. The case of an anisotropic dielectric medium is described by the field of crystal optics.

As in most electromagnetism, this relation deals with macroscopic averages of the fields and dipole density, so that one has a continuum approximation of the dielectric materials that neglects atomic-scale behaviors. The polarizability of individual particles in the medium can be related to the average susceptibility and polarization density by the Clausius-Mossotti relation.

In general, the susceptibility is a function of the frequency ω of the applied field. When the field is an arbitrary function of time *t*, the polarization is a convolution of the

Fourier transform of $\chi(\omega)$ with the $\mathbf{E}(t)$. This reflects the fact that the dipoles in the material cannot respond instantaneously to the applied field, and causality considerations lead to the Kramers–Kronig relations.

If the polarization \mathbf{P} is not linearly proportional to the electric field \mathbf{E} , the medium is termed *nonlinear* and is described by the field of nonlinear optics. To a good approximation (for sufficiently weak fields, assuming no permanent dipole moments are present), \mathbf{P} is usually given by a Taylor series in \mathbf{E} whose coefficients are the nonlinear susceptibilities:

$$\frac{P_i}{\epsilon_0} = \sum_j \chi_{ij}^{(1)} E_j + \sum_{jk} \chi_{ijk}^{(2)} E_j E_k + \sum_{jk\ell} \chi_{ijk\ell}^{(3)} E_j E_k E_\ell + \cdot$$

where $\chi^{(1)}$ is the linear susceptibility, $\chi^{(2)}$ is the secondorder susceptibility (describing phenomena such as the Pockels effect, optical rectification and second-harmonic generation), and $\chi^{(3)}$ is the third-order susceptibility (describing third-order effects such as the Kerr effect and electric field-induced optical rectification).

In ferroelectric materials, there is no one-to-one correspondence between \mathbf{P} and \mathbf{E} at all because of hysteresis.

5.5 Polarization density in Maxwell's equations

The behavior of electric fields (**E** and **D**), magnetic fields (**B**, **H**), charge density (ρ) and current density (**J**) are described by Maxwell's equations in matter.

5.5.1 Relations between E, D and P

In terms of volume charge densities, the **free** charge density ρ_f is given by

$$\rho_f = \rho - \rho_b$$

where ρ is the total charge density. By considering the relationship of each of the terms of the above equation to the divergence of their corresponding fields (of the electric displacement field **D**, **E** and **P** in that order), this can be written as:^[8]

 $\mathbf{D} = \varepsilon_0 \mathbf{E} + \mathbf{P}.$

Here ε_0 is the electric permittivity of empty space. In this equation, **P** is the (negative of the) field induced in the material when the "fixed" charges, the dipoles, shift in response to the total underlying field **E**, whereas **D** is the field due to the remaining charges, known as "free" charges. In general, **P** varies as a function of **E** depending on the medium, as described later in the article. In many problems, it is more convenient to work with \mathbf{D} and the free charges than with \mathbf{E} and the total charge.^[1]

5.5.2 Time-varying Polarization Density

When the polarization density changes with time, the time-dependent bound-charge density creates a *polariza-tion current density* of

$$\mathbf{J}_p = \frac{\partial \mathbf{P}}{\partial t}$$

so that the total current density that enters Maxwell's equations is given by

$$\mathbf{J} = \mathbf{J}_f + \nabla \times \mathbf{M} + \frac{\partial \mathbf{P}}{\partial t}$$

where \mathbf{J}_{f} is the free-charge current density, and the second term is the magnetization current density (also called the *bound current density*), a contribution from atomic-scale magnetic dipoles (when they are present).

5.6 Polarization ambiguity



Example of how the polarization density in a bulk crystal is ambiguous. (a) A solid crystal. (b) By pairing the positive and negative charges in a certain way, the crystal appears to have an upward polarization. (c) By pairing the charges differently, the crystal appears to have a downward polarization.

The polarization inside a solid is not, in general, uniquely defined: It depends on which electrons are paired up with which nuclei.^[9] (See figure.) In other words, two people, Alice and Bob, looking at the same solid, may calculate different values of **P**, and neither of them will be wrong. Alice and Bob will agree on the microscopic electric field E in the solid, but disagree on the value of the displacement field $\mathbf{D} = \varepsilon_0 \mathbf{E} + \mathbf{P}$. They will both find that Gauss's law is correct ($\nabla \cdot \mathbf{D} = \rho_f$), but they will disagree on the value of ρ_f at the surfaces of the crystal. For example, if Alice interprets the bulk solid to consist of dipoles with positive ions above and negative ions below, but the real crystal has negative ions as the topmost surface, then Alice will say that there is a negative free charge at the topmost surface. (She might view this as a type of surface reconstruction).

On the other hand, even though the value of **P** is not uniquely defined in a bulk solid, *variations* in **P** *are* uniquely defined.^[9] If the crystal is gradually changed from one structure to another, there will be a current inside each unit cell, due to the motion of nuclei and electrons. This current results in a macroscopic transfer of charge from one side of the crystal to the other, and therefore it can be measured with an ammeter (like any other current) when wires are attached to the opposite sides of the crystal. The time-integral of the current is proportional to the change in **P**. The current can be calculated in computer simulations (such as density functional theory); the formula for the integrated current turns out to be a type of Berry's phase.^[9]

The non-uniqueness of **P** is not problematic, because every measurable consequence of **P** is in fact a consequence of a continuous change in \mathbf{P} .^[9] For example, when a material is put in an electric field **E**, which ramps up from zero to a finite value, the material's electronic and ionic positions slightly shift. This changes **P**, and the result is electric susceptibility (and hence permittivity). As another example, when some crystals are heated, their electronic and ionic positions slightly shift, changing **P**. The result is pyroelectricity. In all cases, the properties of interest are associated with a *change* in **P**.

Even though the polarization is *in principle* non-unique, in practice it is often (not always) defined by convention in a specific, unique way. For example, in a perfectly centrosymmetric crystal, \mathbf{P} is usually defined by convention to be exactly zero. As another example, in a ferroelectric crystal, there is typically a centrosymmetric configuration above the Curie temperature, and \mathbf{P} is defined there by convention to be zero. As the crystal is cooled below the Curie temperature, it shifts gradually into a more and more non-centrosymmetric configuration. Since gradual changes in \mathbf{P} are uniquely defined, this convention gives a unique value of \mathbf{P} for the ferroelectric crystal, even below its Curie temperature.

5.7 See also

- Crystal structure
- Electret
- Polarization (disambiguation)

5.8 References and notes

- Introduction to Electrodynamics (3rd Edition), D.J. Griffiths, Pearson Education, Dorling Kindersley, 2007, ISBN 81-7758-293-3
- [2] McGraw Hill Encyclopaedia of Physics (2nd Edition), C.B. Parker, 1994, ISBN 0-07-051400-3
- [3] Irodov, I.E.. Basic Laws of Electromagnetism. Mir Publishers, CBS Publishers & Distributors, 1986. ISBN 81-239-0306-5
- [4] Matveev. A. N.. Electricity and Magnetism. Mir Publishers. 1986.
- [5] Based upon equations from Andrew Gray (1888). The theory and practice of absolute measurements in electricity and magnetism. Macmillan & Co. pp. 126–127., which refers to papers by Sir W. Thomson.
- [6] Feynman Lectures on Physics: Volume 2, R.P. Feynman, R.B. Leighton, M. Sands, Addison-Wesley, 1964, ISBN 0-201-02117-X
- [7] Electromagnetism (2nd Edition), I.S. Grant, W.R. Phillips, Manchester Physics, John Wiley & Sons, 2008, ISBN 978-0-471-92712-9
- [8] Saleh, B.E.A.; Teich, M.C. (2007). Fundamentals of Photonics. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley. p. 154. ISBN 978-0-471-35832-9.
- [9] Resta, Raffaele (1994). "Macroscopic polarization in crystalline dielectrics: the geometric phase approach" (PDF). Rev. Mod. Phys. **66**: 899. Bibcode:1994RvMP...66..899R. doi:10.1103/RevModPhys.66.899. See also: D Vanderbilt, Berry phases and Curvatures in Electronic Structure Theory, an introductory-level powerpoint.

5.9 Text and image sources, contributors, and licenses

5.9.1 Text

- Capacitance Source: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Capacitance?oldid=679612462 Contributors: Tarquin, Heron, Michael Hardy, Dominus, Eric119, Ojs, Andres, Omegatron, Romanm, Jondel, Paul Murray, Filemon, Alan Liefting, Giftlite, Jason Quinn, Mboverload, Edcolins, Onco p53, Icairns, Discospinster, TedPavlic, Vsmith, Night Gyr, Bobo192, Nigelj, Wood Thrush, Func, Bert Hickman, Jérôme, Danski14, Wtshymanski, Shoefly, Happaballer12, Gene Nygaard, StradivariusTV, Pol098, Trödel, Norro, NightOnEarth, Jclemens, Rjwilmsi, Vegaswikian, Godzatswing, Alfred Centauri, Alex Sims, Gurch, SteveBaker, Srleffler, Kri, Chobot, YurikBot, JabberWok, Gaius Cornelius, E2mb0t~enwiki, Natkeeran, Brisvegas, Light current, Sidam, LeonardoRob0t, Machtzu, Hirudo, Sbyrnes321, SmackBot, Edgar181, Betacommand, Complexica, DHN-bot~enwiki, Synchroblst, Can't sleep, clown will eat me, LouScheffer, Radagast83, DJIndica, SashatoBot, UberCryxic, FrozenMan, Cronholm144, JorisvS, Bjankuloski06en~enwiki, Mr Stephen, Dicklyon, Spiel496, Sausagerooster, EdC~enwiki, Iridescent, Chetvorno, Atomobot, Conrad.Irwin, Lazulilasher, WMSwiki, Cydebot, Travelbird, Tempust, Usama707, Thijs!bot, Epbr123, Headbomb, Electron9, Ajo Mama, Navigatr85, KrakatoaKatie, Tim Shuba, JAnDbot, Ccrrccrr, Magioladitis, VoABot II, Catslash, Wschanz, Renosecond, User A1, CharlieRepetti, Jim.henderson, Genghiskhanviet, Leyo, The Anonymous One, Cpiral, Rocketmaniac, Crime of heart, Flutiki, Glmory, Vanished user 47736712, ARTE, Potatoswatter, Elee115, Lseixas, VolkovBot, Gmoose1, AlnoktaBOT, TXiKiBoT, Teeteto~enwiki, Sankalpdravid, Wikiisawesome, Wthered, Andy Dingley, Yk Yk, Burntsauce, Spinningspark, Rdengler, AlleborgoBot, SieBot, ScAvenger Iv, Svick, TreeSmiler, ClueBot, MATThematical, Excirial, Kocher2006, Brews ohare, Djander, ChrisHodgesUK, Elcap, DumZiBoT, Nicolae Coman, SilvonenBot, Noctibus, Addbot, Jawacz, Vze2wgsm1, FDT, TStein, Aktsu, Zorrobot, Legobot, Luckas-bot, AnomieBOT, Jambobambo, Materialscientist, Citation bot, Xqbot, মহাকাল, Brufydsy, Syedatif, RibotBOT, ১) جىرزا جس مىن ما Androyd, A. di M., 🔟, LucienBOT, Ivan simeon, Haein45, Jschnur, 124Nick, Zhida, Rxgvhqkrywq6cxdjoar, Tjlafave, SchreyP, ItsZippy, Dinamik-bot, RjwilmsiBot, DexDor, Mark Kretschmar, EmausBot, Edw400, TuHan-Bot, TheEnigmaBlade, JSquish, ZéroBot, Josve05a, Xonqnopp, ClueBot NG, DiCarmine, Rezabot, Widr, Helpful Pixie Bot, Bibcode Bot, DBigXray, BG19bot, Zedshort, BattyBot, ChrisGualtieri, Garamond Lethe, Nishant nsp, PasseVivant, SpecialPiggy, OccultZone, Ghorbanib, Fleivium, Patashin, Engr.A.Kugo, Hafshari777, Cirris Systems and Anonymous: 214
- Dielectric Source: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Dielectric?oldid=680369044 Contributors: Bryan Derksen, SimonP, Heron, Alfio, Ellywa, Smack, Maximus Rex, Phoebe, Pigsonthewing, Romanm, Sverdrup, Jondel, Xanzzibar, Mattflaschen, Alan Liefting, Giftlite, Christopher Parham, BenFrantzDale, Jaan513, Johnflux, Icairns, McCart42, Rich Farmbrough, Dbachmann, Bender235, Pjrich, Kedmond, Femto, Bert Hickman, Eric Kvaalen, Wtshymanski, David Haslam, GregorB, SDC, Hard Raspy Sci, Palica, Rjwilmsi, Utuado, Kevmitch, Thedatastream, Margosbot~enwiki, Alfred Centauri, Srleffler, Bgwhite, YurikBot, Wavelength, Jimp, JabberWok, Shaddack, Alex Bakharev, NawlinWiki, Malcolma, Fantusta, PrimeCupEevee, Light current, CWenger, Halcyonhazard, Arad, Katieh5584, Jerry-VA, CIreland, ChemGardener, Mlibby, Cafe Nervosa, SmackBot, Royalguard11, Melchoir, Od Mishehu, Blue520, KocjoBot~enwiki, Polaron, Kmarinas86, Bluebot, Fuzzform, Oli Filth, Complexica, DHN-bot~enwiki, Langbein Rise, Bread2u, Foxjwill, Ajaxkroon, Nishkid64, FrozenMan, Iridescent, Benplowman, Trebnoj, Rsteif, Chetvorno, Harold f, MightyWarrior, CmdrObot, Jaeger5432, Chrumps, Dr Zak, CNMIN, Thijs!bot, Barticus88, Headbomb, John Walker (fourmilab.ch), Mhaitham.shammaa, Lfstevens, Storkk, JAnDbot, PIrish, EagleFan, InvertRect, Martin-Bot, Adiel lo~enwiki, Loohcsnuf, Mclaugb, STBotD, WinterSpw, Timwilson85, Idioma-bot, VolkovBot, Jeff G., Wolfnix, Philip Trueman, Sweetness46, CoJaBo, Rafiko77, Lamro, AlleborgoBot, SieBot, Hajo3, BetsyBobby, John.fothergill, Laburke, Jegeyom, Guiermo, Borgg, Lxmota, Jax 0677, XLinkBot, Wikiuser100, Ngebbett, Nicoguaro, Mdawber, Addbot, Pyfan, Out of Phase User, Fgnievinski, Thaejas, Download, Deuterium124, Zorrobot, Quantumobserver, Götz, Edwinhubbel, Gitrguru, Materialscientist, LouriePieterse, Bob Burkhardt, Haljolad, 12056, Wikispeller, Omnipaedista, Mnmngb, Chongkian, 🖄, FrescoBot, Techauthor, Tranletuhan, Steve Quinn, Curtisabbott, Ravishkumar88, Jonesey95, Mariastaar, Joannacooper, FoxBot, Fama Clamosa, على وىكى, Ti-30X, Marie Poise, Enistuncer, Ripchip Bot, Chibby0ne, John of Reading, WikitanvirBot, Frodlimt, Hhhippo, ZéroBot, PBS-AWB, Delyle, Quondum, Joshlepaknpsa, Fizicist, Ehsan.hosseini, Andymcl92, ChuispastonBot, RockMagnetist, Mappetop, Lovetinkle, ClueBot NG, Ulflund, Manubot, Widr, Euty, Episcophagus, Helpful Pixie Bot, Maniac55, A black hope, JYBot, Saaket sharma, Donn300, Dexbot, Andyhowlett, Choi.scipy, JaconaFrere, Vhalis, HFHV, AntonyHart, Fedor Mende 1, KasparBot and Anonymous: 184
- Permittivity Source: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Permittivity?oldid=681961657 Contributors: AxelBoldt, Dan~enwiki, Bryan Derksen, SimonP, DrBob, Heron, Bdesham, Patrick, Michael Hardy, Tim Starling, Stephen C. Carlson, Looxix~enwiki, Stevenj, Andres, Zoicon5, Selket, Humanist, Sverdrup, Fuelbottle, Anthony, Tobias Bergemann, Giftlite, Dratman, Eequor, Brockert, Mckaysalisbury, Xtraneous, Pgan002, Karol Langner, Balcer, Icairns, Sam Hocevar, Absinf, M1ss1ontomars2k4, Cacycle, NeilTarrant, Sietse Snel, Femto, Wood Thrush, Bert Hickman, Kjkolb, Keenan Pepper, Wtshymanski, R6MaY89, Gene Nygaard, Edward E. Hopkins, Alexrudd, Joriki, Someone42, Pfalstad, Scollin~enwiki, Bubba73, Emt409, Fresheneesz, Srleffler, Chobot, YurikBot, Jimp, RussBot, Wigie, Salsb, Spike Wilbury, Twin Bird, TDogg310, Gazza1685, Scheinwerfermann, Light current, Rdrosson, ArielGold, Sbyrnes321, Carl Koch, SmackBot, Unyoyega, Mak17f, Polaron, Bluebot, QTCaptain, Pieter Kuiper, Complexica, Darth Panda, Verrai, Radagast83, DMacks, Xezlec, JunCTionS, Archimerged, FrozenMan, Jaganath, WhiteHatLurker, Stikonas, KyleP, Iridescent, Mfrosz, FelisSchrödingeris, Tawkerbot2, CmdrObot, Adam410, Cydebot, Thijs!bot, Born2bwire, Iviney, 49oxen, Alphachimpbot, Dougher, Alhenawy, Adams13, JAnDbot, SeanTater, Magioladitis, Mytomi, Kaiserkarl13, Osquar F, CommonsDelinker, Lokozoid, Numbo3, Stan J Klimas, Glmory, Fylwind, TottyBot, Mshuha, Larryisgood, Thurth, Drnathanfurious, Felipebm, Truffer, Spinningspark, Paolo.dL, Lightmouse, TheDeuce1123, Mild Bill Hiccup, Djr32, Rwestafer, Brews ohare, M.O.X, Crowsnest, Gnowor, Ich42, Addbot, Out of Phase User, Fgnievinski, Strykerhorse, FDT, Download, LaaknorBot, SamatBot, Lightbot, Frehley, Snaily, Yobot, Ptbotgourou, Feldkurat Katz, AnomieBOT, Edwinhubbel, Materialscientist, Citation bot, Xqbot, NOrbeck, Tbressers, UlmPhysiker, Michaelamiller, 💯, FrescoBot, Steve Quinn, Euc, Citation bot 1, Serols, Jtslm, Jauhienij, Marie Poise, EmausBot, Traxs7, AvicAWB, Tls60, ClueBot NG, MerlIwBot, Ricardo.hein.h, Deepon, Helpful Pixie Bot, Kidunye, Debouch, Yardimsever, *thing goes, Chetakdalvi, Shaikanwarulhuq and Anonymous: 181
- Electric susceptibility *Source:* https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Electric_susceptibility?oldid=662944288 *Contributors:* DrBob, Michael Hardy, Stevenj, Steinsky, Siroxo, Karol Langner, Rich Farmbrough, Mattpickman, ABCD, Pfalstad, Nanite, Rjwilmsi, MZMcBride, Afri, Light current, Rdrosson, KnightRider~enwiki, Mak17f, Radagast83, FrozenMan, Waggers, Harold f, Cydebot, Headbomb, Alphachimpbot, JAnDbot, Gcm, Reedy Bot, Fylwind, Timwilson85, Larryisgood, Maxim, AlleborgoBot, SieBot, ClueBot, Brews ohare, Crowsnest, Dthomsen8, Addbot, Mathieu Perrin, Barak Sh, Numbo3-bot, Ufim, Xqbot, Erik9bot, 202, D'ohBot, Steve Quinn, Ti-30X, Marie Poise, Alzarian16, Dodohjk, Helpful Pixie Bot, Rob Hurt, Mgibby5, I am One of Many and Anonymous: 17
- Polarization density Source: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Polarization_density?oldid=675804212 Contributors: DrBob, Stevenj, Romanm, Jyril, Russell E, Karol Langner, Danh, D6, Kevinb, Scentoni, Burn, Kwikwag, StradivariusTV, Geek28, Jeff3000, Pdn~enwiki, Srleffler, RobotE, Salsb, Sbyrnes321, SmackBot, Metacomet, Shalom Yechiel, Yevgeny Kats, FrozenMan, Onionmon, Christian75, Headbomb, Mlađa, Magioladitis, JJ Harrison, E104421, Mrklaney, Fylwind, Elee115, VolkovBot, TXiKiBoT, Qkrijger, Antixt, BotMultichill,

The Thing That Should Not Be, Alexbot, PixelBot, Brews ohare, Crowsnest, Adrory, Addbot, Dawynn, TStein, Dude fri13, Lightbot, Zorrobot, Yobot, Citation bot, LouriePieterse, Trommeltier, EmausBot, RJB1, Hhhippo, ZéroBot, Dario Gnani, Mcmatter, Shoichi yamaguchi, Snotbot, Widr, Helpful Pixie Bot, Bibcode Bot, BG19bot, F=q(E+v^B), A.entropy, Gsaikumarreddy, Sunshine510, Hayazin, Freedom0xz, Jazz Nomad and Anonymous: 39

5.9.2 Images

- File:BulkPolarizationIsAmbiguous.svg Source: https://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/8/80/
 BulkPolarizationIsAmbiguous.svg License: CC0 Contributors: Own work Original artist: Sbyrnes321
- File:Capacitor_schematic_with_dielectric.svg Source: https://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/c/cd/Capacitor_schematic_ with_dielectric.svg License: CC BY-SA 3.0 Contributors: self-made SVG version of Image:Dielectric.png, incorporating Image:Capacitor schematic.svg as its base. Original artist: Papa November
- File:Cylindrical_CapacitorII.svg Source: https://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/b/b8/Cylindrical_CapacitorII.svg License: CC-BY-SA-3.0 Contributors: Own work Original artist: Fabian ~
- File:Diel.png Source: https://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/f/f4/Diel.png License: Public domain Contributors: http:// hyperphysics.phy-astr.gsu.edu/hbase/electric/dielec.html#c1 Original artist: hyperphysics
- File:Dielectric_constant_as_a_function_of_light_frequency.pdf Source: https://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/4/45/ Dielectric_constant_as_a_function_of_light_frequency.pdf License: CC BY-SA 3.0 Contributors: The file is from this site: http://www. doitpoms.ac.uk/tlplib/dielectrics/variation.php Original artist: Cambridge University's DoITPoMS
- File:Dielectric_model.svg Source: https://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/f/fb/Dielectric_model.svg License: Public domain Contributors: http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/File:Dielectric_model.svg Original artist: http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/User:Superm401
- File:Dielectric_responses.svg Source: https://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/6/6c/Dielectric_responses.svg License: Attribution Contributors: Transferred from en.wikipedia to Commons by [2]. Original artist: The original uploader was Archimerged at English Wikipedia
- File:Dielectric_sphere.JPG Source: https://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/6/62/Dielectric_sphere.JPG License: CC BY-SA 3.0 Contributors: Own work Original artist: Brews ohare
- File:OiintLaTeX.svg Source: https://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/8/86/OiintLaTeX.svg License: CC0 Contributors: Own work Original artist: Maschen
- File:Parallel_Wire_Capacitance.svg Source: https://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/e/eb/Parallel_Wire_Capacitance.svg License: CC BY-SA 3.0 Contributors: Own work Original artist: Aflafla1
- File:Plate_CapacitorII.svg Source: https://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/2/20/Plate_CapacitorII.svg License: CC-BY-SA-3.0 Contributors: ? Original artist: ?
- File:Question_book-new.svg Source: https://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/en/9/99/Question_book-new.svg License: Cc-by-sa-3.0 Contributors:

Created from scratch in Adobe Illustrator. Based on Image:Question book.png created by User:Equazcion Original artist: Tkgd2007

- File:Spherical_Capacitor.svg Source: https://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/3/3f/Spherical_Capacitor.svg License: CC-BY-SA-3.0 Contributors: ? Original artist: ?
- File:Surface_Integral_Polarization.jpg Source: https://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/8/89/Surface_Integral_ Polarization.jpg License: CC BY-SA 4.0 Contributors: Own work Original artist: Joqsan

5.9.3 Content license

• Creative Commons Attribution-Share Alike 3.0